Metals in Urban Playground Soils

Distribution and Bioaccessibility

Karin Ljung

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Soil Sciences Uppsala

Doctoral thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2006

1

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae

2006: 81

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 91-576-7130-3 © 2006 Karin Ljung, Uppsala Tryck: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2006

Abstract

Ljung, K. 2006. *Metals in urban playground soils – distribution and bioaccessibility*. Doctoral thesis. ISSN: 1652-6880, ISBN 91-576-7130-3

Urban soils generally have elevated metal contents originating from both point and diffuse pollution sources. Urban areas designated for children, who are most susceptible to any negative health effects of soil metals, may therefore have elevated soil metal contents. Children ingest soil both directly and by putting dirty hands and objects in their mouths. The soil ingested involuntarily mainly comprise very fine particles that have a larger surface area for sorption and may therefore hold higher metal contents than the bulk soil. However, only a fraction of the total soil metal content is generally bioaccessible, *i.e.* can be released from the soil and absorbed in the body.

This thesis presents studies on total and bioaccessible metal contents in soils collected from playgrounds in urban Uppsala. *Aqua regia* digestion was used for total metal analysis while bioaccessibility was investigated for As, Cd, Cr, Ni and Pb using an *in vitro* digestion model simulating three ingestion scenarios: pica (compulsive ingestion of large amounts of soil), deliberate and involuntary ingestion.

While mainly natural sources were found to contribute to soil contents of As, Al, Fe, Cr, Ni, Mn and W, the main sources of Cd, Cu, Hg, Pb and Zn were anthropogenic. Clay content and construction year of the playgrounds were more important factors for the soil metal content than past and present land use in the surrounding areas. The fine soil particles ($<50 \mu$ m) had on average 150% higher metal contents than larger size fractions. Up to 250% enrichment was found in the fine fraction of sandy soils. The effect of particle size and soil mass on bioaccessibility was found to depend largely on soil texture, with the effects diminishing in soils with high clay content. Lead bioaccessibility was largely affected by gastrointestinal pH, which in turn was affected by particle size fraction and soil mass.

The results emphasize the importance of soil analysis beyond only assessment of total metal content of bulk soil for a correct risk assessment of soil metals. The results also show the difficulties associated with generic soil metal guideline values in risk evaluation of soil contamination.

Keywords: urban soil, metal, bioaccessibility, *in vitro* test, particle size distribution, geochemical origin, biogeochemistry, risk assessment

Author's address: Karin Ljung, Department of Soil Sciences, SLU, PO BOX 7014, S-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden. E-mail: <u>Karin.Ljung@mv.slu.se</u>

Sola dosis facit venerum

(The dose alone makes the poison)

-Paracelsus (1493-1541)

Contents

Introduction	7
Context of the current work	8
Objectives	9
Background	10
Urban soil and soil metals	10
Soil metals and children	14
Soil metal chemistry and bioaccessibility	18
The Fourth Environmental Quality Objective-a non-toxic	
environment	25
Risk assessment	26
Materials and methods	31
Description of study area and sampling sites	31
Soil sampling and sample preparation	35
Soil analysis	36
Statistical analysis	38
Quality control	39
Results and discussion	41
Uppsala urban soil	41
Metals in Uppsala urban playground soil	42
Soil metals and children's soil ingestion	48
Guideline values and risk assessment	54
Uppsala playgrounds and guideline values	54
Implications of using different measurement techniques for risk assessment	56
Concluding remarks	57
References	59
Acknowledgements/Tack	66

Preface

Papers I-IV

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I. Ljung, K., Otabbong, E. & Selinus, O. 2006. Natural and anthropogenic trace metal inputs to soils in urban Uppsala, Sweden. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health 28*, 353-364.
- II. Ljung, K., Selinus, O. & Otabbong, E. 2006. Metals in soils of children's urban environments in the small northern European city of Uppsala. *Science* of the Total Environment 366, 749-759.
- III. Ljung, K., Selinus, O., Berglund, M. & Otabbong, E. 2006. Metal distribution in soil particle sizes relevant to soil ingestion by children. *Applied Geochemistry 21*, 1613-1624.
- IV. Ljung, K., Oomen, A., Duits, M., Selinus, O. & Berglund, M. Metal bioaccessibility of urban playground soil. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A. Accepted.*

Paper I is reproduced with kind permission of Springer Science and Business Media. Papers II and III are reproduced with permission of Elsevier. Paper IV is reproduced with permission of Taylor and Francis.

I am the first author on all papers, and thus primarily responsible for the field and laboratory work, statistical analysis, data interpretation, illustrations and text. The co-authors have contributed with field and laboratory work, data interpretation, method development and discussion.

Introduction

There is increasing awareness that metals present in soil may have negative consequences on human health and on the environment, demonstrated by the many books and articles that are published on soil metal bioaccessibility and risk assessment (see for example Ruby *et al.*, 1993; Berglund *et al.*, 1994; 2000; Berglund, Sörensen & Vahter, 1995; Lanphear & Roughmann, 1997; Lanphear *et al.*, 1998; Mielke & Reagan, 1998; Mielke *et al.*, 1999; 2005; Abrahams, 2002; Schroeder *et al.*, 2003; 2004; Selinus *et al.*, 2005). Industrial sites have been subjected to point pollution, which often results in elevated soil metal contents within a limited area. The type of contaminant is also often known. However, a large proportion of the metals present in soil originate from diffuse emission sources such as long- and short-range atmospheric deposition. This is especially apparent in urban soil, where there are more diffuse emission sources, for example traffic and building material, than in rural areas, resulting in short-range atmospheric deposition and a more general increase in metal contents (Paterson, Sanka & Clark, 1996; Filippelli *et al.*, 2005).

Since metals are largely immobile in the soil system, an accumulation occurs over time which may result in levels that are harmful to humans upon both acute and chronic exposure (Thornton, 1991; Brinkmann, 1994; Sheppard, 1998). Because of the diffuse emission in urban areas and the accumulation of soil metals with time, even residential areas located away from point pollution sources may have elevated soil metal contents.

Most children are exposed to metals present in soil because of their hand-tomouth behaviour, which puts them in more frequent contact with soil than most adults. Children practise both deliberate ingestion of soil and involuntary ingestion through mouthing dirty hands and objects (ATSDR, 2000). Children are also more susceptible than adults to any potential negative health effects of metal ingestion. While their smaller body mass increases the relative exposure to a given quantity of contaminants (per kg body mass), they also have a higher gastrointestinal absorption of metals (Schütz *et al.*, 1997). Moreover, because their nervous system is not fully developed, they are more sensitive to neurotoxic metals such as Pb and Hg (Klaassen, 1996).

The potential risks from soil metal intake depend on the amount of metal ingested and the bioaccessibility of that metal, which in turn depends on variables both in the soil and in the gastrointestinal environment. Metals are present in soil in different chemical and physical forms with different solubilities, affecting bioaccessibility. Metals from anthropogenic emission sources are commonly present in a more reactive form than those naturally occurring in minerals. This is because while added metals are sorbed on surfaces in initial stages, metals of natural origin may be incorporated into soil particles, which slows down the desorption process considerably (Ruby *et al.*, 1996). The sorption of metals in soil is, however, a continuum of different processes, occurring simultaneously and at different rates (Sparks, 1999). Soil characteristics such as pH, organic matter and

clay content affect the sorption strength of metals. Lowered pH increases the mobility of metals, while presence of organic matter and clay generally lowers the mobility and increases the metal content because more attractive binding sites are provided (Alloway, 1990; Citeau & Lamy, 2003).

The form in which metals are present in soil also determines their ability to dissolve in the gastrointestinal system and be accessible for uptake (Ruby et al., 1996). The low pH in the stomach renders metals more mobile, but as metals differ in pH dependence of their solubility, the effect of the low pH differs among elements. This has consequences for risk assessment of soil, since the bioaccessible fraction determines the uptake and hence the potential negative health effect. Bioaccessibility studies have been conducted in vivo on test animals, but as these methods are time-consuming and expensive, *in vitro* studies have been developed that simulate the gastrointestinal system. In order to be realistic, the *in* vitro system takes into account enzymes and acids present in the stomach and intestine as well as transit times and pH of both compartments, and the gastric and intestinal solutions are mixed at body temperature. While the method does not permit analysis of the fraction that is taken into circulation in the body, it gives an idea of a worst case scenario and the maximum fraction that is accessible for uptake, *i.e.* the fraction that remains dissolved after dissolution, complexing and re-adsorption (Grøn & Andersen, 2003).

Context of the current work

The work reported in this thesis formed part of the EU-funded research project 'URBSOIL - Urban soils as a source and sink for pollution: Towards a common European methodology for the evaluation of their environmental quality as a tool for sustainable resource management'. Six cities across Europe (Aveiro, Glasgow, Ljubljana, Seville, Turin and Uppsala) participated in the project and urban soils in different land use areas were investigated in each city. The overall aim of the project was to identify and document soil quality parameters and their use in urban areas, in order to provide local, national and European authorities with decision support tools for correct planning and sustainable management of the soil resource in cities. While the URBSOIL project focused on urban soil in general, the current thesis specifically investigated soil in children's urban environments and children's exposure to soil metals in Uppsala. Two MSc theses have been published within the URBSOIL project regarding soils in Uppsala. Johansson (2003) focused her thesis on particle size distribution of metals in playgrounds selected from the current study, but used different particle size fractions than those used in this thesis. Franco (2005) studied the origin of metals in roadside soils. Other previous studies in Uppsala have investigated agricultural soils (Klang & Eriksson, 1997) and determined background values of metals (Andersson, unpublished).

Soils from twenty-five playgrounds in Uppsala were sampled in the current work. Sand boxes at the playgrounds were not investigated, since the sand material is replaced frequently. Instead, soil material was collected from eroded surfaces where children may come into direct contact with soil. The sampled playgrounds were located in five different land use areas, with the aim of collecting soils from sites with varying degrees of metal input. While playgrounds located in industrial and traffic-intense areas and those located on abandoned industrial land were assumed to have elevated metal contents, moderate contents were expected from playgrounds located in public parks, and low contents were expected from playgrounds in forested and residential areas on the outskirts of the city.

The playground soils were fractionated into particle sizes of relevance for children's soil ingestion. Deliberate soil intake was represented by a particle size <4 mm, while involuntary ingestion was represented by a particle size <50 μ m. The choice of the smaller size fraction was based on studies investigating soil adherence to hands (Sheppard & Evenden, 1994). The different soil fractions were passed through an in vitro gastrointestinal test to obtain values on bioaccessibility of the different metals investigated. Previous in vitro studies have mainly investigated contaminated soils from mines, hazardous waste sites, historically contaminated sites and reference materials (Ruby et al., 1993; 1996; Williams et al., 1998; Rodriguez et al., 1999; Ellickson et al., 2001; Schroeder et al., 2003; 2004). This investigation is to my knowledge the first to evaluate metal bioaccessibility in non-point polluted soils using an in vitro digestion model. It is also the first to investigate metal distribution in the selected particle size fractions. Since bioaccessibility differs between soils due to the origins of metals and soil chemical parameters, the current study adds valuable information to on-going research on bioaccessibility and potential risks of soil metals. It also provides useful information for ongoing improvement work regarding risk assessment.

Objectives

The overall aim of the work reported in this thesis was to contribute to the understanding of metal distribution and bioaccessibility in non-point polluted urban soil. The initial idea was that because children are more susceptible than adults to any potentially adverse health effects of metals, both for physiological and behavioural reasons, it was considered relevant to look at metal contents in soils of children's urban environments.

The main objective was to evaluate soil metal content with regard to children's exposure. The specific objectives were to:

- (1) Investigate the origin of metals in non-point polluted soils of urban Uppsala (Paper I)
- (2) Investigate which factors affect the soil metal distribution in non-point polluted urban soil (Paper II)
- (3) Evaluate the difference in metal content between soil particle size fractions of relevance for children's deliberate and involuntary soil ingestion (Paper III)

(4) Assess the bioaccessibility of As, Cd, Cr, Ni and Pb in non-point polluted urban soil (Paper IV)

The hypotheses of the investigation were:

- □ Metals present in urban soil can be identified according to their main natural or anthropogenic origin
- □ Present and past land use affects the soil metal content in urban areas
- □ The distribution of metals in soil is related to soil particle size distribution
- □ The bioaccessibility of soil metals varies with ingested particle size fraction and soil mass.

The elements aluminium (Al), arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), copper (Cu), iron (Fe), mercury (Hg), manganese (Mn), nickel (Ni), lead (Pb), tungsten (W) and zinc (Zn) were analyzed in order to obtain information on both essential elements and those that have no biological function or only adverse effects on biological functions. For the bioaccessibility study, the selection of elements was restricted to As, Cd, Cr, Pb and Ni for analytical reasons. Although As is not a metal by definition, but a metalloid, it will be referred to in the text as a metal for simplicity.

Background

The Papers on which this thesis is based regard two main issues. While Papers I and II regard the origin and present distribution of metals in Uppsala soils, Papers III and IV focus on the exposure of children to metals and evaluate whether the present methods of risk assessment and application of guideline values are viable. The following sections describe the background to the issues underlying the research.

Urban soils and soil metals

The composition of urban soils differs from that of rural soils, especially with regard to the probability of it having originated from several different locations, and having been mixed with non-soil material (Bullock & Gregory, 1991; Linde, Bengtsson & Öborn, 2001). In an urban area, the term 'soil' therefore includes a wide spectrum of compositions and stages of development, ranging from areas that appear to lack any soil cover, such as demolition sites and brick rubble, to well developed soils with natural profiles, such as the types found in parks and gardens. According to Linde, Bengtsson & Öborn (2001), most city soils contain more coarse-grained material than rural soils. They also include more building waste and other waste materials (Bridges, 1991). Urban soil also often has a different vertical variability than rural soil, resulting from excavation and backfilling, as

well as a more pronounced horizontal variability due to different land uses (Effland & Pouyat, 1997). The most common waste material found in urban soil is building waste (broken bricks, tiles, glass, timber, piping, cable and insulation materials, discarded masses of cement, concrete and plaster). Other sources of waste material in the urban environment include various industries, power stations, oil spills, organic and chemical waste spills, transport systems, scrap yards and waste disposal sites. Other than the solid soil phase, materials derived from the decomposition of wastes may also be found in the gaseous and liquid phases of the urban soil (Bridges, 1991). Even in soils with a seemingly naturally developed profile, remnants of human activity may be found lower down in the profile. According to Mullins (1991), large dense objects tend to sink into the soil at a surprising speed in areas with a high earthworm population. He refers to Darwin's (1882) study of stone slab sinkage rates in a graveyard, which states that dense objects only sink to the depth of earthworm activity (0.5-1.0 m).

In addition to altered composition, urban soils also differ from rural soils with regard to physical properties, with a more compact structure due to treading and soil compaction by vehicles and heavy machinery (Mullins, 1991). Compaction and trampling, together with pollution and construction, also disturb processes carried out by soil organisms. Since soil organisms are responsible for incorporation and decomposition of organic matter in soil, they together with plants play a major role in developing and maintaining a stable soil structure. The altered composition and structure of urban soils can result in decreases in population and diversity of species, which in turn adversely affects certain processes, for example litter incorporation (Harris, 1991). Concomitantly, impermeable surfaces in the urban environment result in scarce vegetation. As a result, urban soils commonly contain less organic matter than the corresponding rural soils (Harris, 1991).

Metals in urban soils

The difference in metal contents between urban and rural soils is the anthropogenic addition to the former from pollution sources both within and outside the urban area. While point-pollution sources spread metals to a restricted and sometimes easily identified area, diffuse sources including long- and short-range atmospheric deposition spread metals to areas located at some distance from their source. Contaminated urban soils are often the result of point pollution, such as industrial activity, where remediation may be necessary to avoid unwanted effects on humans and the environment. The largest sources of diffuse emissions in the urban environment include traffic (including corrosion of road materials and vehicles) and buildings (including paints and different construction materials). A study of the Stockholm area showed that the metal emissions from point sources have decreased markedly since the 1970s, leaving diffuse metal emission as an increasingly important metal source (Sörme, Bergbäck & Lohm, 2001). Other sources of metals to urban soils include buried waste and applications of fertilizers and pesticides (McBride, 1994).

	Population	Al	As	Cd	Cr	Cu	Fe	Hg	Mn	Ni	Pb	W	Zn
						Pla	vgrounds						
Stockholm ¹	760 000			< 0.5	23	46	17000		325	13	100		160
Göteborg ²	481 000		3.6	0.03	3	7				2	2		14
Bergen ³	239 209		7.7	0.05	11	26		0.01		9	3		51
						Swe	edish cities						
Stockholm ⁴	760 000			0.40	30	34		0.16			37		111
Gothenburg ⁵	481 000		2.6	0.19	10	18		0.21		6	38	0.05	69
Falun ⁶	55 000		13.8	0.59	4	95		0.42	138	3	338		152
						No	rdic cities						
Oslo ⁷	630 260	17200	4.5	0.34	29	24	21100	0.06	438	24	34		130
Bergen ⁸	239 209		3.2	0.30	21	29		0.20		13	81		128
Jakobstad ⁹	20 810	4400	2.7	0.25	23	22	11600	0.09		8	59	6.90	82
						Worl	dwide citie	S					
Berlin ¹⁰	3 388 477		4.3	0.41	27	37		0.34		9	109		163
Damascus ¹¹	1 394 322				51	30				35	10		84
Naples ¹²	1 000 449				8	54					184		180
Seville ¹³	704 104				39	68	20100		471	22	137		145
New Orleans ¹⁴	469 032			3.60	3	32			134	10	656		373
Tallinn ¹⁵	397 150				33	35			320	15	50		114
Aberdeen ¹⁶	212 125	13897			24	27	18469		286	15	94		58
Gaborone ¹⁷	186 007			1.30	79	35				51	50		175
 ¹ Berglund et al, 1994 ² Lax, unpublished ³ Ottessen et al., 2000 ⁴ Linde, Bengtsson & Öborn. 2001 		 ⁵ Rundquist & Johansson, 2000 ⁶ Sandberg, 1995 ⁷ Tijhuis, Brattli & Sæther, 2002 ⁸ NGU, 1999 ⁹ Peltola & Åström, 2003 			 ¹⁰ Birke & Rauch, 2000 ¹¹ Möller et al. 2005 ¹² Imperato et al, 2003 ¹³ Madrid, Diaz-Barrientos & Madrid, 2002 			¹⁵ E E ¹⁶ P	Birke, 2000	Shogenova) anka & Cla			

Table 1. Median metal contents (mg kg⁻¹) in urban soils worldwide. All samples are collected from non-contaminated soil

In large industrial cities, the number of emission sources is greater than in smaller cities but this does not necessarily lead to higher soil metal contents. Peltola & Åström (2003) reached this conclusion after findings of elevated trace metal contents in a small town in Finland (Jakobstad). They claim that the soil metal content of large cities is not necessarily higher than that of small cities, but that the areas containing elevated metal contents are usually larger. Designated industrial areas are usually located closer to the city centre in small cities, while redundant central industrial areas are often changed into residential areas in large cities, thereby removing or covering contaminated sites, and thus limiting human exposure to contaminated soil.

Metal contents of topsoil from selected cities in different parts of the world are presented in Table 1. The sampling sites were located in residential areas and the metal contents were analyzed using similar digestion methods. Although somewhat different sampling and measurement techniques were used for the results in Table 1, it gives an idea of metal contents in urban soil. The variation in metal contents between the cities shows the complexity of urban soils, and supports Peltola & Åström's (2003) suggestion that the size of the city is not always related to its metal content. For example, Table 1 shows that Berlin, a city with over 3 million inhabitants, has significantly lower Pb contents than New Orleans, a much smaller city with a population just below half a million. Both the Berlin and the New Orleans studies were based on samples from residential areas where children could play. It is apparent that there are several factors that influence the metal contents in urban soil, such as the industrial history of the city, traffic intensity, geochemical background contents, and also the choice of sampling sites.

In a study of metal pollution in Stockholm City, metal contents were found to vary greatly between locations. This was explained by long-term emission of metals to the soil and a variation of land uses over time, which had resulted in soil being mixed and/or moved and polluted soil being mixed with 'clean' soil (Berglund *et al.*, 1994). In a study by Linde, Bengtsson & Öborn (2001), land use was found to be a more significant factor affecting soil metal contents than geographical distance to the city centre in the Stockholm urban area. Wasteland and city centre areas showed elevated levels in their study, while a study of Hong Kong by Li, Poon & Liu (2001) reported elevated metal contents in commercial districts with high traffic emissions, as well as in industrial areas. The Berlin study also found a clear correlation between soil metal contents and types of land use and industry (Birke & Rauch, 2000).

Natural and anthropogenic origin of metals in urban soil

Metals in urban soil originate from both natural and anthropogenic sources. While all soil metal inputs initially originate from igneous rock formation, the natural pathway is through weathering of minerals where the metal content in soil reflects the metal content in the parent material. The anthropogenic input is through human activity, releasing metal compounds both near and far from their original source. Since anthropogenic activities releasing metals are more concentrated in the urban environment, urban soils receive a higher load of metals from the immediate surroundings than the corresponding rural soil (Thornton, 1991). Metals are rather immobile once they enter the soil system, which indicates that any transport is likely to be physical (by removing soil mass) rather than chemical (Brinkmann, 1994; ATSDR, 2002). This results in the presence of metal residues originating from discontinued activities in the present soil and an ongoing accumulation of metals in undisturbed soils of the urban environment (Bridges, 1991; Brinkmann, 1994; Mielke & Reagan, 1998; ATSDR, 2002).

Senesi et al. (1999) report that metropolitan regions show annual increases in concentrations of Mn, Co, Cr, Be, V, Cd, Cu, Zn and Pb due to atmospheric deposition. Several studies have tried to differentiate between anthropogenic soil metal load and the natural geochemical backgrounds of elements in urban areas. Studies have been carried out in Berlin (Birke & Rauch, 2000), Tallinn (Bityukova, Shogenova & Birke, 2000), Mieres (Loredo et al., 2003) Oslo (Tijhuis, Brattli & Sæther, 2002) and Madrid (De Miguel et al., 1997). All studies concluded that the present soil Cd, Cu, Hg, Pb and Zn contents mainly originated from anthropogenic sources. While all soils were analyzed for Pb and Zn, the Tallinn study did not analyze Cd and Cu, and Hg was only analyzed in three of the studies. Chromium and Mn were concluded to mainly originate from natural sources in Oslo, Madrid (only Mn analyzed) and Mieres, while these metals were concluded to be of mainly anthropogenic origin in Tallinn and Berlin. The Tallin, Berlin and Mieres studies also concluded that soil As and Ni originated from anthropogenic sources, while these elements were concluded to be of mainly natural origin in Oslo. Arsenic and Ni were not analyzed in the remaining studies.

Soil metals and children

Children are more susceptible to the potential negative health effects of metals in soil than adults, both for physiological and behavioural reasons (Schütz *et al.*,1997; ATSDR, 2000). It is therefore especially important that soil contents of potentially harmful substances are kept low in areas frequented by children. A child's environment determines the level of exposure to a certain metal. Lead, for example, can be present in the paint of residential houses, day-care centres and the facilities at playgrounds. Even though such paints are now banned, they have been used in the past, with residues left in the soil. Another example is As, which is a component of chromated copper arsenate (CCA) used as a wood preservative. Arsenic-containing wood was previously used for playground equipment, but has today been replaced and must no longer be used for that purpose (KIFS, 1998). A study on playground soil and sand in Bergen, Norway, found elevated concentrations of As from the use of impregnated wood (Ottesen *et al.*, 2000).

Contaminated urban soils have been clearly identified by several authors as a significant source of metal exposure to children (McKone & Daniels, 1991; Berglund *et al.* 1994; Sheppard, 1995; Lanphear & Roughmann, 1997; Mielke & Reagan, 1998; Mielke *et al.*, 1999; 2005). Soil ingestion has been recognized as an equally important exposure route for contaminants in children as water and food

ingestion (McKone & Daniels, 1991), especially for children up to the age of six due to their hand-to-mouth behaviour (Mielke & Reagan, 1998). For Pb, inhalation is a minor exposure route, and after the elimination of Pb from water pipes and tanks, Pb from soil has become a major source of exposure (Filippelli et al., 2005; Laidlaw et al., 2005). Several studies have investigated the relationship between soil metal contents and blood metal contents in children, mostly for Pb (Dugan, 1980; Dugan & Inskip, 1985; Schilling & Bain, 1989; Berglund et al., 1994; 2000; Schütz et al., 1997; Lanphear et al., 1998; Mielke et al., 1999). A study focusing on the contribution of soil Pb to childhood Pb exposure carried out by Mielke et al. (1999) concluded that a significant correlation existed between soil Pb levels and blood Pb levels in children aged six years and younger. In a study carried out on blood Pb in Uruguayan children, a negative correlation was found between blood Pb levels and age and was concluded to most likely be due to a more pronounced hand-to-mouth activity, as well as a higher gastrointestinal absorption in younger children compared to older ones (Schütz et al., 1997). In a study on children in Pb-contaminated areas in Sweden, Berglund et al. (1994) found that the blood Pb level increased considerably from the age of one, when a child becomes more mobile. The blood Pb level then reached peak values between the ages of 2 and 3 and decreased at the ages of 4 to 5. These studies all suggest that presence of metals in soil can be reflected in children's blood metal levels and that hand-to-mouth behaviour is a significant exposure route to Pb.

Children's small bodies result in a greater contaminant intake per kg body weight, compared to the same contaminant intake in adults. Children also have a developing nervous system that is more sensitive to contaminants. The rapid cell division and growth in children's bodies also present opportunities for genotoxic effects (Klaassen, 1996). Moreover, children have a higher gastrointestinal absorption than adults. Laquatra (2001) reports that while adults absorb 10-20% of ingested Pb, the absorption by children is between 30 and 50%. Children between the ages of 13 and 36 months are also known to have Fe deficiency, which increases gastrointestinal absorption of ingested Pb (Laquatra, 2001).

Health effects of metals

Most metals affect multiple organ systems, but each metal has a critical effect in a specific organ or tissue (Klaassen, 1996). Acute effects of metals are uncommon in the urban environment, but there are several subtle, chronic and long-term effects, such as lowered IQ, that are of great concern. Children's exposure to Pb has received the greatest attention because of its negative effects on the central nervous system (Osman, 1998, ATSDR, 2002). Ingestion of large amounts of Pb may cause anaemia, kidney damage, colic, muscle weakness and brain damage (ATSDR, 2002). After ingestion of smaller amounts of Pb such as Pb containing dust, effects on blood, development and behaviour may occur. Low blood Pb levels may cause fatigue, insomnia, irritability, hyperactivity and effects on hearing, vision and motor functions (Brinkmann, 1994; Osman, 1998). Schütz *et al.* (1997) also report indications of slight hearing impairment and slight renal effects in children having moderately elevated blood Pb levels. Long-term effects of low doses of Pb exposure also include effects on physical and mental growth

including intellectual functioning (ATSDR, 2002; Centeno *et al.*, 2005). Environmental exposure to Pb has decreased significantly over the past twenty years with the removal of Pb from petrol, food cans and other sources, resulting in a reduction in population blood Pb levels of over 80% (Davies *et al.*, 2005). At the same time, the blood Pb level regarded as safe for children has progressively been lowered, from 60 μ g dL⁻¹ in 1978 to 10 μ g dL⁻¹ in 1991 (Osman, 1998). In fact, recent research suggests that there may be no safe level of Pb for children (Abrahams, 2002). The present Swedish guideline value for Pb in soil has been set at 80 mg kg⁻¹. In a risk assessment study conducted by Victorin *et al.* (1990), an even lower guideline value of 30 mg Pb kg⁻¹ soil was recommended, considering children's behaviour and absorption rate.

Health effects from metal exposure other than Pb include neurological damage (Cd, Mn, Hg), kidney damage (Cd, Cu, Hg), stomach ache, nausea, vomiting and diarrhoea (As, Cd, Cu, Zn), allergies (Ni, Cr), skin lesions (As), pancreas damage (Zn), mobility dysfunction (Cd, Mn), liver damage (As, Fe, Cu) and cancer (As, Cr^{VI} , Ni, Cd) (ATSDR, 2002; Centeno *et al.*, 2005; Nordberg & Cherian, 2005). There is evidence of links between stomach cancer incidence and soil Co, Cr and Zn (Davies *et al.*, 2005). A recent study in Nevada, USA, suggests that W and Co may be added to the list of possible carcinogens (Sheppard *et al.*, 2006). They found evidence suggesting that high airborne exposures of W and Co particulates, most likely originating from a nearby hard-metal facility, may be related to childhood leukaemia.

Children's exposure to soil metals

Children are more susceptible to the negative health effects of soil contaminants not only because of physiological factors, but also because their exposure is greater as they are close to the ground when playing. This may result in soil ingestion as children put dirty hands and objects into their mouths. They may also consume soil directly and eat dropped food (ATSDR, 2000).

Soil ingestion resulting from child hand-to-mouth behaviour is most common in children aged 18 months to 2 years and is considered developmentally inappropriate in children above this age (Ellis & Schnoes, 2005). Stanek *et al.* (1998) performed a study on soil mouthing/ingestion among healthy children aged 1 to 6 in the USA, and found that 38% of the one-year-olds ingested soil at least monthly, while 11% put soil in their mouths daily. The incidence then decreased rapidly with age. The study distinguished between sand/stones and soil/dirt, and the incidence of mouthing sand and stones was greater than that of mouthing soil and dirt (54% monthly and 17% daily).

Several attempts have been made to estimate the amount of soil that children ingest per day, using calculations based on assumptions regarding soil loading on hands, frequency of hand-to-mouth transfer and efficiency of transfer. Estimates have varied between 20-250 mg soil ingested per day (Kissel *et al.*, 1998). Measurements in faeces and soil of trace elements that are believed to be poorly absorbed in the gut have resulted in similar average daily intakes of between 39

and 271 mg soil per day, with upper percentile values ranging from about 100 to 1400 mg day⁻¹ in children. Most studies using tracer elements have not been able to successfully differentiate between ingestion of soil and ingestion of dust (Moya, Bearer & Etzel, 2004). However, Calabrese & Stanek (1992) compared faecal tracer ratios from a child with excessive soil intake behaviour and concluded that the predominant proportion of the faecal tracers was of outdoor soil and not indoor dust origin.

Calabrese, Stanek & Barnes (1998) investigated the main soil particle size ingested by children by comparing intertracer variability between a backyard soil sieved to $<250 \mu m$ and to <2 mm, respectively. They found that the variability was markedly diminished in the smaller size fraction and concluded that the children in the study tended to mainly ingest soil of a smaller particle size. The United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA, 2002) has summarised studies of soil ingestion by children by several authors and has set guideline values for estimated soil ingestion rates at a mean of 100 mg day⁻¹ for children between 1 and 6 years and an upper percentile of 400 mg day⁻¹. As a conservative measure they propose a mean value of 200 mg day⁻¹.

Deliberate soil ingestion may likely result in ingestion of a larger soil mass as well as a larger soil particle size range than involuntary ingestion. For children who ingest large soil masses, soil metals may be a significant source of the daily metal intake (Filippelli *et al.*, 2005). Pica is a term used for describing deliberate ingestion of large amounts of non-nutritive substances, including soil, and is common in children aged 18 months to two years (Ellis & Schnoes, 2005). USEPA (2002) suggests that a reasonable ingestion rate for children with soil pica behaviour is 10 g soil day⁻¹. However, this value was primarily based on one study and one child displaying soil pica behaviour, where the soil intake ranged from 10 to 14 g day⁻¹ during the second week of observation (Calabrese *et al.*, 1989).

The soil particles ingested involuntarily by children through putting objects and hands into their mouths are usually of a smaller diameter than the average original soil. Small particles have a greater reactive surface area per unit mass and those finer particles may therefore have higher concentrations of contaminants than the original larger soil particles (Sheppard, 1995). It has been found that Pb in small particles is more soluble than Pb in larger particles due to this relatively large surface area. For example, Barltrop & Meek (1979) found that in particle sizes <100 μ m, Pb adsorption decreased with increased particle size. This fraction is also easily transported by suspension, and can remain airborne for a long time and enter organisms, including humans, by inhalation (De Miguel *et al.*, 1997).

Sheppard & Evenden (1994) found in studies of the characteristics of soil adhering to skin that the adhesion process tended to exclude particles larger than 50 μ m in diameter when dry, regardless of soil type. In addition to small particle size, contaminant enrichment was also found to be associated with high organic matter and extractable Fe content. Up to a 10-fold contaminant enrichment was found when comparing the original soil with the adhering soil. The greatest enrichment was associated with sandy soils, since the bulk of the sorbed

contaminant is on the fine particles that adhere readily to skin but make up only a small fraction of the total soil mass. Lower soil loads on the skin showed greater enrichment, with a marked increase at soil loads below levels that would call for obvious hand washing. Through microscopic inspection it was apparent that clay sized soil particles (<2 μ m) fitted in size with the roughness characteristics of the skin, implying that the finest particle sizes may be resistant to washing of hands. This particle size may not be ingested, but may be of greater importance for dermal absorption.

Soil metal chemistry and bioaccessibility

Understanding sorption processes in soils is necessary to understand the occurrence, mobility and behaviour of metals in soils. When metals enter the soil, either from natural or anthropogenic sources, they are retained and can be rendered relatively immobile because of sorption reactions with the soil constituents (Brinkmann, 1994). However, the mobility and availability of metals in soils differs depending on different sorption and desorption mechanisms. These mechanisms depend on the soil material as well as characteristics of the sorbing metal. Plants can readily take up ionic or soluble complexed forms present in the soil solution (Alloway, 2005), while the acid environment in the stomach can dissolve metals more strongly bound. Figure 1 shows the different sorption mechanisms of a metal ion at the mineral water interface.



Figure 1. Sorption mechanisms of metals onto soil minerals: A = diffuse ion swarm; B = outer sphere complexation; C = inner sphere complexation; D = diffusion into mineral lattice; E = precipitation. The black circles are metal ions and the white oxygen ions. The larger picture shows a 2 μ m section of a montmorillonite surface (Eick & Burgholzer, 2005). Adapted from Sparks (1999) and Sposito (1989).

The most mobile metal cations (A) are free to move about in the soil solution, but nevertheless remain near enough to solid surfaces to neutralize their surface charge (Sposito, 1989). Ions can also bind to the surfaces of minerals, organic matter and oxides via a water molecule and form an outer-sphere complex (B) or directly, forming an inner-sphere complex (C). These two processes also neutralize surface charges. Processes (A) and (B) are non-specific with regard to dependence on surface charge and mainly involve electrostatic bonding (Sposito, 1989). The exchange process is rapid, reversible, diffusion-controlled, stoichiometric and there is usually some preference for one ion over another by the sorbent. In general, for a group of elements with the same valence, ions with the smallest hydrated radius are preferred and if the elements have different valence. the higher charged ion is preferred (Sparks, 2003). Reactions with direct bonds (C) are slower, usually non-reversible, more selective and result in metal ions being adsorbed more strongly and to a far greater extent. This type of sorption is also more dependent on pH (Alloway, 2005). Since the adsorbing metal ion bonds directly to the sorbent surface, the tendency for adsorption is dictated by the properties at the surface and the nature of the sorbing metal (McBride, 1994). Inner-sphere complexes are the most common sorption mechanisms for As, Cd, Cr, Cu and Pb on soil minerals (Sparks, 2003).

Metal ions can also diffuse into the mineral lattice (D) or precipitate on the mineral surface (E). Precipitation only occurs when the soil metal load is high, either from natural sources or from pollution (McBride, 1994), and is likely to be less important in the moderate metal content soils of the current study. However, co-precipitates can be formed at lower metal loads where dissolution products of mineral and organic phases catalyze the nucleation step. The formation of coprecipitates is limited by mineral dissolution, so these reactions are often much slower than inner-sphere complexation reactions. Time-dependence is therefore characteristic for precipitation in soils (Sparks, 1999). Solid-phase humic material in the soil can also retain metals by forming complexes, in addition to serving as a charged surface for ion exchange (Alloway, 1990). In addition, soluble organic compounds can form soluble complexes with many metals, preventing sorption onto solid surfaces and enabling leaching down the soil profile. However, the sampling strategy of the current study resulted in samples of low organic matter contents, so these two latter retention mechanisms are likely to be less important in the investigated soils.

There is a continuum of processes between surface complexation reactions and surface precipitation depending on the ratio between sorption sites and number of ions in solution, on the strength of the metal oxide bond and degree of undersaturation of the bulk solution. At low metal loadings, outer- and inner-sphere complexation dominate (Sparks, 2003). These types of reactions are most likely present in non-point polluted soils in the urban environment, such as the soils sampled in the current study. With increased metal loading surface aggregates are formed through nucleation while surface precipitation dominates as metal load increases further (Sparks, 2003).

In soils, which are heterogeneous systems with a range of particle sizes, porosities and multiple retention sites, metal ions are transported and sorbed by the different mechanisms described above simultaneously and at different rates (Sparks, 1999). The type and quantity of the components and the charge and radius of the ion determine the rate of sorption. The rate is rapid for minerals with only external exchange sites while the reaction rate is slower for minerals containing both internal and external exchange sites because of slow diffusion into partially collapsed interlayer spaces. Sorption in the latter type of minerals then involves three different reaction rates with high rates on the external sites, intermediate rates on edge sites and slow rates on interlayer sites (Sparks, 2003). Increased ion charge generally decreases the rate of exchange where ions with small hydrated radius fit well in the interlayer spaces of clay minerals. The often instantaneous ion exchange reaction is usually followed by a slow reaction limited by the transport of the ion to the sorbing surface. This rate-limiting process for ion exchange can result in quite slow reactions where the time scales for soil chemical reactions range from a few milliseconds to years (see Figure 2) (Sparks, 1999).



Figure 2. Time ranges needed to reach equilibrium by different soil reactions (after Sparks, 1999).

The majority of ion or organic chemical sorption occurs within a few hours and these fast reactions are usually attributed to high affinity sites. Metal sorption reactions on oxides, hydroxides and humic substances depend on the type of surface and metal but the chemical reaction appears to be rapid (Sparks, 2003). According to Sparks (1999), metal sorption on clay minerals and oxides increases with time. These slow and time-dependent reactions are not yet fully understood but are likely attributable to surface precipitation, interparticle diffusion (diffusion into pores), intraparticle diffusion (diffusion into crystal defects and into the soil particle) and a change in the type of complex (Sparks, 1999, 2003; Glover, Eick & Brady, 2002). Metal sorption on minerals thereby results in a continuum of

processes, from adsorption to precipitation to solid phase transformation (Sparks, 2003).

Soil metal bioaccessibility

Only a fraction of the total metal content of soil is generally bioavailable (the fraction that reaches the blood compartment) and bioaccessible (the fraction available for uptake in the gastrointestinal tract) (Versantvoort, Rompelberg, & Sips, 2000). Whether ingested metals pose a health risk to children or not therefore depends on metal solubility, both in the soil environment and in the gastrointestinal environment. Absorption of ingested elements in humans occurs mainly in the gastrointestinal tract, and can take place along the entire route, including the mouth and the rectum. However, dissolution generally occurs in the acid stomach environment, while uptake takes place in the more neutral intestinal tract (Grøn & Andersen, 2003). Figure 3 shows the processes that take place when soil has been ingested.



Figure 3. Processes in the gastrointestinal tract following ingestion of soil (Grøn & Andersen, 2003).

Solubility in the gastrointestinal tract

When soil enters the acid stomach environment, labile mineral oxides, sulphides and carbonates release metals and adsorbed organic compounds (Grøn & Andersen, 2003). The dissolution in this phase determines the bioaccessible fraction and depends on the characteristics of the metal itself, the soil matrix in which it is incorporated and the composition of the gastrointestinal fluid. Watersoluble metal ions can be transported into body tissues quite easily, since water is continuously passed through the cell by transport activities. Free ions and small particles are more easily absorbed in the stomach due to their ability to pass through the gastrointestinal walls, while insoluble particles can be absorbed by active transport by binding to transport proteins (Ahlgren, 1996). Active transport can occur if the metal has a similar structure and size to a required element. One example is Cd, which is taken up by the same metal transporter as Fe at low body Fe stores (Gunshin *et al.*, 1997; Tallkvist, Bowlus & Lonnerdal, 2001; Leazer, Liu & Klaassen, 2002). In the intestinal phase, the speciation of the metal and the gastrointestinal motility are limiting factors for absorption into the human body (Grøn & Andersen, 2003). The absorption of metals in the intestine requires that the metals are dissolved (free or bound to a dissolved carrier such as bile), transported to the gastrointestinal wall and, if bound to a carrier, released at the surface of the gastrointestinal membrane for absorption. The higher pH of the intestinal phase dissolves organic matter, and contaminants bound to it are released. Cationic metals are solubilized by complexation with bile acids and some metals are precipitated by the high pH or by phosphate (Grøn & Andersen, 2003). A readsorption of solubilized ions on charged surfaces such as clay mineral and organic matter also occurs at this higher pH. Ruby *et al.* (1996) found that Pb (cation) was removed from the solution by neutralization in the intestinal phase to a greater extent than As (anion), due to adsorption and precipitation reactions occurring for Pb but not for As at neutral pH values.

A main variable in the gastrointestinal environment that affects bioaccessibility is the pH. The pH of the stomach varies with fed and fasting conditions, and is generally lower in the stomach of a child than of an adult (Grøn & Andersen, 2003). According to Ruby et al. (1996), paediatric gastric pH under fasting conditions is 1.7-1.8. Following ingestion of food, pH rises to >4 and returns to basal values within two hours as food is emptied from the stomach. The pH in the small intestine is around neutral. Schroeder et al. (2003) found bioaccessibility values of 63% for Cd in contaminated soil when simulating gastric extraction without food. When food was added, the bioaccessibility was 38% in the same compartment. For the intestinal phase, the fed and fasting conditions resulted in 13% and 39% Cd bioaccessibility, respectively. Ruby et al. (1996) found that the extent of Pb dissolution decreased by 65% when stomach pH was increased from 1.3 to 2.5. The dissolution of As also decreased, but only by 16%. Yang et al. (2003) also found greater pH dependence (stomach, intestine and soil pH) of Pb bioaccessibility than As, with lower bioaccessibility at increased pH. A comparison of five different in vitro studies also concluded that the differences in bioaccessibility between the different methods were due to differing pH, with low pH producing high bioaccessibility values (Oomen et al., 2002).

The standard procedures for estimating soil Pb exposures in children recommended by the USEPA assume that 30% of ingested soil Pb is bioavailable (Ruby *et al.*, 1996). According to an investigation carried out by the Norwegian Geological Survey (Ottesen *et al.*, 2000) up to 60% of ingested Pb may be absorbed depending on the solubility in the gastrointestinal tract. In the comparison of different *in vitro* methods carried out by Oomen *et al.* (2002), the bioaccessibility of Pb varied from 1-96% depending on soil type and gastrointestinal pH. As stated above, the bioaccessibility, particularly of Pb, is dependent on pH and feeding conditions. It is also dependent on transit time and soil composition. If the transit time through the stomach is fast, dissolution may not be complete. The presence of dissolved phosphate, either from digested food or from the soil, results in very rapid precipitation of Pb as chlorolead phosphate, limiting absorption in the intestinal phase (Grøn & Andersen, 2003).

Soil variables affecting bioaccessibility

The occurrence and distribution of an element among the various phases present in soil (mineral phases, co-precipitated, sorbed, dissolved and complexed species) determines its bioaccessibility. Changes in distribution and thereby bioaccessibility occur over time, from physical and chemical weathering, biological processes, infiltration of water and anthropogenic activities (Ruby et al., 1999). In order for metals to become bioaccessible in the gastrointestinal tract, they have to dissolve within a specified time and the bioaccessibility is therefore dependent on processes limiting the rate of dissolution. The larger surface area ratio of smaller particles generally enables a more rapid solubilization resulting in greater bioaccessibility. While less soluble minerals are dissolved by surfacereaction controlled kinetics limited by the surface detachment of ions, more soluble minerals dissolve by transport-controlled kinetics where the dissolution rate is limited by the transport of ions away from the saturated layer at the particle surface. While the former reaction is sensitive to transit time in the gastrointestinal tract, the latter is sensitive to the extent of mixing. A combination of both reactions above is limiting for intermediately soluble minerals (Ruby et al., 1999).

As pollutants of anthropogenic origin, metals may enter the soil either in organically complexed form or as metal salts. In the latter case, the metal cations adsorb on mineral and organic surfaces, and are more exchangeable than metals of natural origin. In general, metals from anthropogenic sources are therefore more bioaccessible than metals from natural sources (Grøn & Andersen, 2003). Lead particles in paint, for example, are of a small particle size that renders them more bioaccessible, while coatings of highly bioavailable lead oxide are formed from Pb in batteries, cable coverings, ammunition and solder (Ruby *et al.*, 1999). Metals contained in natural minerals are more stable in the environment and hence they tend to be less soluble and less bioaccessible (Ruby *et al.*, 1996).

Soil properties and metal origin thus influence the bioaccessibility of metals by affecting their form and solubility (Ruby et al., 1996). Studies on the relationship between soil Pb and blood Pb have been carried out in the cities of Falun, Sala and the Stockholm districts of Södermalm and Sundbyberg (Berglund et al., 1994; 2000; Berglund, Sörensen & Vahter, 1995; Bjerre et al., 1998;). These studies show diverse results, implying that bioavailability differs in the respective areas. Although Falun and Sala showed greater soil Pb levels than Södermalm and Sundbyberg, the blood Pb levels in children of Sala were considerably lower than blood Pb levels in both of the Stockholm districts. The blood Pb levels of Falun children were higher than in Sala, although the difference in soil Pb in the two cities did not show a corresponding difference. This is explained by Ahlgren (1996) to be the result of a difference in Pb bioavailability in the cities. Soil Pb in Falun and Sala, both old mining towns, is believed to be strongly bound to different crystalline minerals, while soil Pb in the Stockholm districts mainly originates from traffic. Traffic emissions of Pb are in the form of small particles and are thereby more soluble.

In vitro digestion models

In vitro models have been developed in order to try to measure bioaccessibility of soil metals in the laboratory. The technique has been adapted from nutritional studies on uptake of iron from food, and has been applied to investigate gastrointestinal metal uptake from soil (Ruby *et al.* 1993). The *in vitro* techniques are relatively inexpensive and easy to use compared to *in vivo* techniques. Validations against *in vivo* data from studies of pigs and children's blood have shown that the method can predict bioaccessibility (Ruby *et al.*, 1999; Schroeder *et al.*, 2004).

The *in vitro* models simulate the release of contaminants from soil in the acid gastric environment and the neutral intestinal environment and assess the metal content available for absorption (bioaccessibility). Since the model assumes that all metals that are dissolved in the intestinal environment are available for uptake, it simulates a worst-case scenario. The *in vitro* digestion procedure takes into account variables such as human body temperature, soil-to-fluid and digestive juice ratios, pH and transit times in the different compartments, chemical composition of the digestive juices and the mixing that occurs in the human body in order to best simulate soil ingestion with regard to child physiology (Oomen *et al.*, 2003). Most studies have investigated the bioaccessibility of As and Pb. Table 2 shows the results from a number of studies that have assessed bioaccessibility in different materials using *in vitro* tests.

Soil origin	As	Cd	Pb
Hazardous waste sites ¹		15 - 55	
Hazardous waste sites ²			1.06
Mining/smelter sites ³	2.7 - 42.8		
Mine tailings ⁴			1.1 - 3.0
Mine waste ⁴			4.6 - 8.3
Mine waste ⁵	14 - 21		
Mine waste ⁶			0.5 - 6
Potteries ⁷			28 - 73
Residential/Zn, Pb smelter areas ⁴			29 - 54
Residential/Cu smelter areas ⁴	44 - 50		
Standard reference material ⁸	10.7		65.9
¹ Schroeder <i>et al.</i> , 2003	⁵ Williams <i>et al.</i> , 1		
2 Schroeder <i>et al.</i> , 2004	⁶ ₇ Ruby <i>et al.</i> , 1993		
³ Rodrigues <i>et al.</i> , 1999	⁷ Oomen <i>et al.</i> , 20	03	

Table 2. In vitro study results on bioaccessibility (%) of As, Cd and Pb from different types of soil, measured in the intestinal phase

As can be seen from Table 2 there is a great variation in metal bioaccessibility between different types of soil. The mine waste soils have relatively low bioaccessibility values compared to those found in residential areas located in the

⁸ Ellickson et al., 2001

⁴ Ruby *et al.*, 1996

vicinity of smelters. This difference could perhaps be attributed to similar factors determining the difference found between Stockholm and Sala in the example above. While the metals in the residential areas mainly originate from atmospheric deposition from the nearby smelter sites, which is relatively bioaccessible, the metals found in mine waste originate from stable natural minerals.

The Fourth Environmental Quality Objective – a non-toxic environment

In 1999, Sweden set up fifteen Environmental Quality Objectives (a sixteenth was added in 2005) of which the fourth is a Non-Toxic Environment (Environmental Objectives Portal, 2006a). The objective states that: "The outcome within a generation for this environmental quality objective should include the following:

- \Box The concentrations of substances that naturally occur in the environment are close to the background concentrations.
- □ The levels of foreign substances in the environment are close to zero and their impacts on the ecosystems are negligible.
- \Box All fish in the seas, lakes and watercourses in Sweden are fit for human consumption with regard to the contents of foreign substances.
- □ Overall exposure in the work environment, the external environment and the indoor environment to particularly dangerous substances is close to zero and, as regards other chemical substances, to levels that are not harmful to human health.

□ Polluted areas have been investigated and cleaned up where necessary." (Environmental Objectives Portal, 2006b)

Several interim targets have been set up to reach the overall goal of a non-toxic environment. Interim targets 6 and 7 consider remediation of contaminated soils and state that "studies will have been carried out and, where necessary, appropriate action will have been taken by the end of 2010 at all contaminated sites that pose an acute risk of direct exposure, and at contaminated sites that threaten important water sources or valuable natural environments, today or in the near future" and "between 2005 and 2010, measures will be implemented at a sufficiently large proportion of the prioritized contaminated sites to ensure that the environmental problem as a whole can be solved by 2050 at the latest." (Environmental Objectives Portal, 2006c).

At present (2006), 80 000 polluted sites have been identified, of which half may pose risks to humans and the environment (Naturvårdsverket, 2006a). The next step after the identification phase is to classify the polluted sites according to risks regarding humans and the environment into four different risk classes. It is estimated that 1 500 sites will be graded as Risk class 1 and 15 000 sites as Risk class 2 (very high and high risks to health and environment, respectively) (Naturvårdsverket, 2006a). So far, 7000 sites have been classified. Almost half (45%) of the prioritized sites requiring remediation are contaminated by metals. Half of these sites are contaminated primarily with regard to As and Pb, making up 27 and 23% each, followed by Cr and Hg at 15% each and Cd at 10% (Nahlin & Strid, 2003).

In order to reach the objective of a non-toxic environment within forty years, polluted sites need to be remediated, not only identified and classified. The committee that formulated the environmental objective had assumed that 7000 sites would fall into Risk class 1 and 2. In November 2001, the Riksdag (Swedish Parliament) therefore approved a changed interim target and stated that remedial actions would be initiated at 100 polluted sites and terminated at 50 of these sites by the end of 2005. At present (2006), remedial actions have been initiated at 59 sites and terminated at 31 of these sites (Naturvårdsverket, 2006a). Costs for remedial actions have so far reached 2.5 billion Swedish crowns (SEK). The Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has calculated that a further 45 billion SEK will be needed in order to remediate the most polluted sites (Naturvårdverket, 2006a).

Risk assessment

Risk assessment of contaminated soil is an important tool for evaluating risks to human health and the environment, for prioritizing remediation efforts and techniques, and for evaluating the need for risk reducing actions (Naturvårdsverket, 2005). The two main questions that are targeted in risk assessment of contaminated soil are: 1) What risks do the current contaminant situation pose at present and in the future and; 2) what extent of risk reduction measures is needed to eliminate potential hazards to humans and the environment (Naturvårdsverket, 2005). The difference between human health risk assessment and environmental risk assessment is that the former concerns only one species, humans, and the protection of all individuals, while the latter focuses on protection of many species but not all individuals (Campbell, Chapman & Hale, 2006). The following sections mainly focus on human health risk assessment.

Contaminated soils contain metal contents that exceed the local or regional background value (Naturvårdsverket, 2005). Background values are therefore used to estimate the load from anthropogenic sources in metal-enriched areas. Since metals propose a potential health risk to the environment and humans, especially children, guideline values have been developed to set levels in soil that will not result in any negative effects. The guideline value for use in risk assessment for humans has been developed from calculated maximum tolerable daily intake values (TDI). The following sections describe the background, guideline and tolerable daily intake values and how they were established. Table 3 presents the current background and guideline values used in Sweden.

Background values

The definition of a metal's background level in soil can be synonymous with the metal content in non-polluted soils where the metal content is determined only by the soil's parent material (Welp & Brümmer, 2003). However, it is difficult to

define general background levels because of the regional variation in metal contents due to differences in bedrock composition and the local variation due to soil type. Moreover, the defined level depends on the soil constituent collected, the particle size fraction analyzed and the analytical method used (Salminen & Tarvainen, 1997).

It is not realistic to set background levels at levels corresponding to the soil's level prior to the industrial age, since atmospheric transport has resulted in metal additions to areas located far from the pollution source. An example of this is the 200-fold increase in the Pb content of the Greenland ice-sheet compared to the pre-industrial content (Klassen, 1998). The Swedish EP has therefore included the normal diffuse addition of natural and anthropogenic metals to soil in addition to the metal content originating from the soil's parent material in their definition of background levels (Naturvårdsverket, 1997a). Welp & Brümmer (2003) provide a similar definition, and it should be pointed out that the anthropogenic metal addition is diffuse, and separates the background level from metal contents found in point-polluted sites.

Background levels do not, however, always equal desired levels of metals. Natural levels of metals in soil, even if unaffected by diffuse metal input, can sometimes exceed the guideline values set up by authorities for contamination of soils, as can be seen in Table 3 (Lax, 2002). In Finland, the action limits for soil metals have been revised with regard to natural variations but are still lower than the natural metal contents in large areas (Salminen & Tarvainen, 1997). Arsenic, Cd and Ni are known examples of elements that exceed guideline values in some Swedish soils for geological reasons (Lax, 2002).

Although elevated soil metal contents may result in unwanted effects, an increased metal background level in soil does not necessarily indicate a health risk or a negative impact on the environment. Again, the effect is related to the bioavailability of the soil metal, as many metals occur in non-soluble minerals or oxidation states with low toxicity, where the bioavailable fraction is much smaller than the total metal content. However, there are several examples worldwide of high natural contents that cause severe negative health effects in millions of people. One example is arsenic of geological origin. According to Centeno (2006), the number of people that are exposed to toxic levels of arsenic may equal the total number of people that suffer from cancer, stroke, coronary heart disease, HIV/AIDS and diabetes throughout the world (287 million). Much attention has been given to the increased As contents in the drinking water of Bangladesh and India, but dangerously high levels have also been reported in 22 countries across Africa, Asia, Europe and South and North America (Centeno, 2006).

Guideline values

The Swedish EPA has set up generic guideline values for soil pollutants with regard to three main land uses: 1) Sensitive land use (to be used for crops, residential areas, playgrounds, parks, forestry *etc.* as well as groundwater

	Sensit	tive land u	ise ¹	Less ser	nsitive land	d use ¹	withou	nsitive lan t ground v straction ¹			Ba	ackground	values		
	HT	ET	GV	HT	ET	GV	HT	ET	GV	I	Uppsala ²		S	weden ³	
										min	med	max	min	med	max
As	0.08	20	15	0.18	40	15	40	40	40	n.d.	8	17	n.d.	3	21
Cd	0.4	6	0.4	0.9	12	1	250	12	12				n.d.	0.23	2.7
Cr	1500	120	120	3000	250	250	-	300	250	10	35	49	4	20	54
Cu	5000	100	100	30000	200	200	-	200	200	2	24	48	1	12	66
Hg	2	5	1	5	10	5	25	10	7				n.d.	n.d.	0.1
Ni	40	100	35	130	200	150	900	200	200	4	21	51	2	14	65
Pb	80	150	80	290	300	300	8000	300	300	1	22	39	n.d.	11	59
Zn	5000	350	350	42000	700	700	-	700	700	30	85	173	7	41	182

Table 3. Generic guideline values (GV) and background values set by the Swedish EPA. The guideline values are presented with the human toxicological value (HT) and the ecotoxicological value (ET) used in the calculations of the GV. Background values are presented for urban areas nationally as well as for Uppsala's urban area (mg kg⁻¹)

¹ Naturvårdsverket, 1997a
 ² Andersson, unpublished
 ³ Naturvårdsverket, 1997b

abstraction); 2) less sensitive land use (to be used for industrial and office buildings, roads, *etc.* as well as groundwater abstraction at some distance from the contaminated site); and 3) less sensitive land use without groundwater abstraction (Naturvårdsverket, 1997b). The generic guideline values consider different exposure routes for humans including soil intake, dermal exposure, inhalation of dust particles and intake of drinking water, vegetables and fish, while the protection of the environment considers effects in the area and in nearby surface water. Environmental effects are considered by securing the soil functions with regard to flora and fauna, while surface water is protected by securing all life forms of the aquatic life cycle. Two different values, one regarding the environment and one regarding humans, are calculated, and the lowest of the two is used as a guideline value (see Table 3).

The generic guideline values are intended to be used for assessment of polluted sites and are valid for the whole country. The values regard a level that should not be exceeded in order to avoid unwanted effects of soil pollution and are not levels up to which it is warranted to pollute. They are, however, recommendations and not legally binding. The values are set for the mineral soil layer, above the watertable, analyzed by the methods described within the report or similar methods, and are calculated on an assumption that the total contaminant content is available for spread and uptake. However, synergy effects are not considered (Naturvårdsverket, 1997b).

The generic guideline values have been calculated to be applied to most, but not all, polluted sites in the country. A questionnaire is available to help determine whether the generic guideline values can be used at a specific site. If these values cannot be used because of differences in toxicity, risk of leaching or sensitivity of the area, an extended risk assessment has to be carried out and site-specific guideline values have to be calculated (Naturvårdsverket, 1997b). The site-specific guideline values are calculated in the same way as the generic values, but based on site-specific information including bioavailability of the contaminant(s), exposure routes and the risk of spreading to nearby sensitive biotopes or leaching into groundwater. However, the extended risk assessment should also include risk for presence of undetected contaminants, synergy effects, time aspects regarding spreading, land use, *etc.* Information on soil characteristics such as chemical form, particle size distribution and adsorption pattern of the pollutant also have to be included in order to assess bioavailability and health risks to humans (Naturvårdsverket, 1997b).

Tolerable Daily Intake values

The human toxicological guideline value is calculated from the maximum tolerable daily intake (TDI) which in turn is derived from toxicological studies. The toxicological studies involve administering a soluble metal salt in feed or water to a test animal. The calculations assume that the bioavailability and bioaccessibility of metals in soil are equal to that of the soluble metal form used in the test matrix (Sips *et al.*, 2001). Since soil includes less soluble metal forms and

there are interactions between dissolved metals and the soil constituents, the risk from soil intake with regard to metals may be overestimated (Ruby *et al.*, 1999).

For human risk assessment, the different exposure routes described above are weighted equally. A reference soil metal content is calculated for each of the exposure routes (including drinking water) which corresponds to an acceptable risk level from each exposure route independently. An integrated guideline value is then calculated from the reference soil content. Because drinking water guideline values are often set to a specified percentage of the TDI, the integrated guideline value is often considerably lower than the TDI and an adjustment is therefore made. Simultaneously, an adjustment is made for elements with high background exposure so that the background exposure and the estimated exposure from the site collectively do not exceed the TDI (Naturvårdsverket, 1997b).

Difficulties with the present guideline values

Many difficulties have been identified in using the current generic guideline values. One problem is that the ecotoxicological values that were used for calculations of the Swedish generic guideline values were in large based on studies carried out in the Netherlands (RIVM), and were thus not specific for Swedish conditions (Naturvårdsverket, 2006b). The aim of the Dutch guideline values was to protect 75% of species. Sweden adopted this value for less sensitive land use and used half the value for sensitive land use (Elert, 2002).

The difficulties with using a generic guideline value also include site-specific characteristics such as main exposure routes and spreading patterns as well as soil characteristics that may differ substantially between sites (Elert, 2002). For example, some generic guideline values for soil have been set to ensure safe drinking water standards, in case the pollutant spreads to a nearby aquifer. At a specific polluted site, this exposure route may not be relevant, and the generic guideline value is therefore lower than necessary for that site.

The authors of the report on guideline values acknowledge that for some elements, the guideline values may be set with excessive caution because of the high level of uncertainty and lack of knowledge at the time of setting the values. As can be seen from Table 3, some unpolluted sites used for sampling for the determination of background values in urban areas exceed the set guideline values set for As, Cd and Ni. The high level of caution used in developing the generic guidelines adds a problem to their applicability, since they currently propose that several non-polluted sites, especially in urban areas, need remediation. In fact, the Stockholm City Development Administration (2006) states that the generic guidelines are as a rule not applicable in an urban area like Stockholm because of the generally increased metal contents compared to background levels. Instead, site-specific values are used for evaluating risks of soil contamination at all potentially polluted sites.

It is generally agreed that at most sites it is not realistic to take expensive and difficult remedial actions to ensure that soil metal contents are below the background level. However, the present generic guideline values have been the only guidelines available and have had a much larger impact than was originally intended. This is not typical for Sweden. Nathanail & Earl (2001) report similar problems with using guideline values in the U.K. They speak of 'magic numbers' and refer to the loss of context and correct interpretation that occur when a table of guideline vales is extracted from its explanatory text. The Swedish guideline values have been used as absolute values and as remediation goals, and have also been used for materials that they were not intended for, such as waste and sediments. There is also in reality a far greater number of land use areas than the three listed in the generic guidelines, which also should allow for more varied guidelines (Elert, 2002). However, a long-term perspective must always be applied, to ensure future use of the site. Because of the many difficulties with using the current generic guideline values, it is common practice to perform a sitespecific investigation, which allows for a greater variation of soil metal contents both in depth and within a specific area. The Swedish EPA encourages the use of site-specific values since they provide better knowledge of the site in question (Y. Österlund, pers. comm. 2006). Although the cost for risk assessment is greater if site-specific values are to be calculated, savings may be made in transport and remediation if the assessment proposes a guideline value better adapted to sitespecific conditions.

An effect of the low guideline values is the large masses of soil that have to be removed. Although it would be most desirable to re-use polluted soil and remediate polluted areas, a common solution to polluted soil is to extract it and put it on landfill. It is a cheap, fast and simple method compared to remediation, and the soil is at best used as cover material after some soil washing. The dumping on landfills is due both to difficulties with soil washing to an acceptable level and to the fact that there is no market for washed soil (Nahlin & Strid, 2003).

Because of the many difficulties experienced with the generic guideline values, and because the use of site-specific values has become more of a rule than an exception, a new tool for calculating guideline values is under development. The new model is intended to assist and improve the calculations of guideline values by automatically documenting the procedure and by making the decision process more transparent and available for review and discussion. In addition, the tool enables a better understanding of the effects that different parameters may have on the spread of contaminants and the exposure routes that may be most important (Naturvårdsverket, 2005). The new criteria are currently under evaluation and will be officially introduced shortly.

Materials and methods

Description of study area and sampling sites

Uppsala, the city of the current study, is Sweden's fourth largest city with a population of approximately 136,500. It is mainly an academic city with around

37% of its population enrolled or employed at its two universities (Uppsala City Council, 2004). It was founded in the 13th Century and developed into a religious and academic centre by being the home of the first Nordic university, which was founded by the archbishop in 1477. Uppsala has a short history of industrial activity, beginning in the later part of the 19th century with the establishment of several brickworks and milling industries. The post-glacial clay present in large parts of the city favoured the establishment of brickworks, which resulted in excavation of large areas of what is now the centre of Uppsala, and subsequent addition of foreign soil and waste material to fill the quarries (R. Agius, pers. comm. 2005). Metalworks were the most important industries. During the second half of the same century most industries moved from the area and the city once again became more of an academic centre (Engström, 2001). More detailed information on the history and geology of Uppsala is given in Paper I.

Natural and anthropogenic sources of metals in Uppsala

Uppsala County sits mainly on granitic bedrock with low metal content. Leptite rock containing Zn, Cu and small amounts of Cd is present in the central area, while scatters of greenstone containing high background values of Cr, Ni and Co are found throughout the county (Möller, 1993). According to Ek (1992), the soils of Uppsala County contain naturally elevated contents of As, Cd, Cu, Co, Cr, Mo, Ni, U and low contents of Hg, Pb and Se. The concentrations of V, W and Zn are in the same range as for the rest of the country. However, Ekelund, Nilsson & Ressar (1993) found in their study that W occurred at slightly elevated contents in the yielevated contents in the vicinity of exposed bedrock.

The main anthropogenic point pollution sources of metals located in Uppsala are the sewage treatment plant, the heat and energy plants, car washes and the airforce base. The heat and energy plants are the main sources of Hg, Pb, Cr, Cu, Ni, Zn and As. Important diffuse sources include traffic and long-range atmospheric deposition of metals (Stock, 1996). Other than the heat and energy plants, a major source of Hg to the soils in Uppsala has been the crematorium, which up until 2000 released approximately 8.5 kg of mainly metallic Hg into the air annually. The release of Hg has today decreased to 0.5 kg annually (R. Örnestav, pers. comm. 2003).

Sampled playgrounds

There are approximately 190 day-care centres in urban Uppsala (2005). Figure 4 presents the location of the 25 playgrounds selected for this study. Nineteen of the sampled playgrounds were attached to day-care centres, while six were located in public parks. The playgrounds were located in five different land use areas:

Discontinued industrial areas. These playgrounds were selected after review of a report released by Uppsala City Council, investigating discontinued polluting



C1 Engelska Parken C2 Slottsbaneret C3 Stadsträdgården C4 St. Göransplan C5 Vasaparken

D1 Gudruns förskola D2 Gunnars förskola D3 Lötens förskola D4 Svartbäckens Mont. D5 Sörgården

T1 Glunten T2 Kastanjelunden T3 Kvarngärdesskolan

- T4 Storgården T5 Vindhemsparken

I1 Boländernas förskola I2 Kastanjen I3 Klockarparken I4 Kristallen

N1 Berwalds förskola N2 Eriksskolan N3 Rosendal, Liten Lär N4 Täljstensskolan N5 Gläntan N6 Voksenåsen

Figure 4. Location of sampled playgrounds in urban Uppsala.

industries (Lönnberg, 2001). Day-care centres that were located on the same plot or nearby former polluting industries were selected to represent this land use category and were given the abbreviation D. The previous activities on these sites included metal works, dry cleaners and chemical industry.

City centre. Few of the day-care centres located in the city centre of Uppsala have their own playgrounds, but instead use the playground facilities of public parks. Soil from the playground areas of the parks Vasaparken, Engelska Parken, Stadsträdgården and St Göransplan were sampled to represent the city centre and were given the abbreviation C. One playground attached to a day-care centre was also included in the city centre category.

Industrial land. Since Uppsala is mainly an academic city rather than an industrial one, the industrial areas in the city are limited and naturally do not hold many day-care centres or playgrounds. Only four playgrounds were found within this category and were selected for sampling. Day-care centres with accompanying playgrounds were found in two of the main industrial areas, Boländerna and Fyrislund, while one selected site was located on the same plot as the Pfizer AB pharmaceutical factory, on the outskirts of the city. A fourth playground was situated in a park bordering an industrial area with several mechanical workshops (Börjetull). The playgrounds located in industrial areas were given the abbreviation I.

Roadsides. The selection of sampling sites in this category was based on information from a study on traffic intensities in Uppsala (Nayeri, 2002). Two such day-care centres were adjacent to the most intensely trafficked road in Uppsala, the E4 (28 000 vehicles per day). The other three playgrounds were adjacent to roads with traffic intensities of 14 000, 13 500 and 9 000 vehicles per day. One of these was located in a public park. The playgrounds in this category were given the abbreviation T for traffic.

Natural land. This category included playgrounds located in areas with little human impact on the ground cover and not near any point sources, such as in the periphery of forests. Six playgrounds were sampled in this category and were selected through visits to all playgrounds that were located in representative areas. The playgrounds located in these areas were given the abbreviation N.

Since the purpose of the study was to investigate children's exposure to any potential soil metals, the sampling points at each playground were selected on-site by finding spots where the grass had been eroded and the soil was exposed. This was commonly in the vicinity of designated playing equipment; by swings and at the end of slides. No spatial pattern design for sampling was thereby used and no samples were collected from sandboxes. In Uppsala, sandbox sand is replaced every other year (B. Mäkinen, pers. comm. 2004) and is therefore not likely to have elevated metal contents or represent urban soil input. The soil surrounding the play equipment in playground is being built. The year of construction for each playground was found through various sources: the City Planning Office, the

Recreation and Nature Office of Uppsala City Council, through contacts with the day-care centres and through former employees of Uppsala City Council.

A brief description of the aim of the studies included in this thesis and the methods used for preparation and analysis are presented in Table 4. More detailed information is contained in subsequent sections as well as in the Materials and Methods sections in the Papers I-IV. Table 4 summarizes the different depths, fractions and digestive methods used and the elements analyzed.

Table 4. Basic description of the different papers presented in the study. Soil from playgrounds within urban Uppsala were used in all experiments

Paper	Aim: To investigate	Sampling depths (cm)	Particle size fraction	Digestion method	Elements analysed
Ι	origin of urban soil metals – natural vs. anthropogenic inputs	0-5 5-10 10-20	<2 mm	Aqua regia	Al, As, Cd, Cr, Cu, Fe, Hg, Mn, Ni, Pb, W, Zn
II	factors influencing geographic metal distribution in urban soil	0-5 0-20	<2 mm	Aqua regia	Al, As, Cd, Cr, Cu, Fe, Hg, Mn, Ni, Pb, W, Zn
III	metal distribution in particle size fractions relevant to children's soil ingestion	0-10	<50 μm 50-100 μm <4 mm	Aqua regía	Al, As, Cd, Cr, Cu, Fe, Hg, Mn, Ni, Pb, W, Zn
IV	bioaccessibility of metals in different particle size fractions	0-10	<50 μm <4 mm	In vitro digestion model	As, Cd, Cr, Ni, Pb

Soil sampling and sample preparation

Three sampling points were selected at each site and composite samples consisting of five subsamples within 1 m² were sampled at each point. A stainless steel auger was used to a depth of 20 cm and the sample core was divided into depths of 0-5, 5-10 and 10-20 cm. This resulted in three depths from three sampling points, in total nine samples from each of the twenty-five playgrounds. The same soil samples were used in all experiments included in this thesis. The soil samples were stored at 4 °C and adequate amounts were extracted from the original soil samples for each of the subsequent experiments. In the study presented in Paper I, all three depths were considered separately with regard to metal distribution, while the results from all three depths (0-20 cm) were averaged for evaluating the origin of the investigated elements. In the study presented in Paper II, only the top 0-5 cm layer was investigated with regard to geographical distribution of metal contents. However, the combined data for the 0-20 cm depth were used for comparison with Swedish guideline values.

The two top layers of 0-5 and 5-10 cm from the three sampling points of each site were combined to give one sample from each playground for the particle size fractionation carried out in the study presented in Paper III. The soil samples were mixed because there was insufficient soil left from the original samples to only fractionate the top 0-5 cm samples. It was considered more appropriate to use the same samples to enable comparison than to re-sample the sites after two years' time.

The soil samples used for the studies presented in Papers I and II were ground and sieved to pass through a 2 mm mesh, while the soil samples were fractionated into particle sizes <4 mm, 50-100 μ m and <50 μ m, used for the study presented in Paper III. In the study presented in Paper IV, the <4 mm and <50 μ m fractions were used. The soils were fractionated by wet-sieving without the use of dispersing agents. This method may result in aggregates of finer particles being included in the larger fractions, but it was used in order to resemble field conditions as much as possible. A more detailed description of the fractionation procedure is found in Paper III.

Soil analysis

General characteristics

Texture and pH were measured only on the <2 mm soil fraction used for Papers I and II, while dry matter, organic matter content and carbonate content were measured for all experiments. Texture was investigated by using the pipette method (ISO, 2001a). Dry matter was determined by drying the samples at 105 °C overnight. The same samples were then put in a muffle furnace and ignited at 500 °C in order to get an estimate of the organic matter content. The weight loss (loss on ignition) was adjusted for adsorbed and chemically bound water by subtracting a correction constant (Ekström, 1926). The samples were then put back in the muffle furnace at 900 °C in order to get an estimate of the carbonate content. Presence of carbonates was also investigated by addition of 1 ml HCl to each dried sample and detection of any sizzling sound. Soil pH was determined in H₂O and CaCl₂ (1:5) according to ISO 10390 (ISO, 2002a).

The cation exchange capacity (CEC) was not determined on the sampled soils. In soils with low metal contents, cation exchange is unlikely to limit the solubility of metals, and the low solubility in unpolluted soils is rather explained by specific adsorption mechanisms or precipitation (McBride, 1994). However, a study on five of the soils used here determined CEC at between 25 and 29 mmol kg⁻¹ in four of the soils and at 16 mmol kg⁻¹ in one of the soils (Johansson, 2003).

Metal analysis

The results presented in Papers I, II and III were obtained by *aqua regia* (HCl:HNO₃, 3:1) digestion for total metal contents (ISO, 2002b). *Aqua regia* is a strong acid solution which dissolves all metal phases except those bound to silicate phases. The extract is therefore more correctly termed the pseudo-total content
(Alloway, 1990). The analysis of the bioaccessible metal content (Paper IV) was carried out as an *in vitro* experiment simulating the gastrointestinal tract.

Papers I and II: Soil samples from each of the three depths from the three sampling points at each playground were digested with *aqua regia*, in total 225 samples. Two blank samples and two reference samples were included in the digestion.

Paper III: Duplicates of each of the particle size fractions of $<50 \ \mu\text{m}$, 50-100 μm and $<4 \ \text{mm}$ from each of the twenty-five playgrounds were digested with *aqua regia*, giving a total number of 75 samples. Two blanks and two reference samples were included in each digestive run, in total six of each.

Paper IV: The method used for the *in vitro* experiment was developed by Oomen *et al.* (2003) and carried out in cooperation with Agnes Oomen and the Laboratory for Food and Residue Analysis (ARO) at the Dutch National Institute for Health and the Environment (RIVM) in Bilthoven in May 2005. Solutions representing saliva, gastric juice, intestinal juice and bile were sequentially added to the soil samples. The solutions were rotated at body temperature for time periods representing the transit times in the gastrointestinal system: 5 min in the saliva solution; 2 hours in the gastric solution; and 2 hours in the intestinal solution. Figure 5 shows the solutions used for the experiment.



Figure 5. Solutions used in the in vitro digestion. From left to right: Saliva, stomach juice, intestinal juice (duodenum) and bile.

The solution was sampled after the intestinal phase, representing the metal fraction available for uptake. Three scenarios were investigated using the *in vitro* method with different soil particle size fractions and soil masses: deliberate pica (excessive) ingestion (<4 mm, 2 g soil), deliberate soil ingestion (<4 mm, 0.6 g soil) and involuntary ingestion (<50 μ m, 0.6 g soil). Duplicate samples were used and the procedure was repeated once for each scenario. Duplicate blanks and duplicates of two certified reference soils (Montana 2710 and 2711) as well as two in-house reference materials were included in each digestive run. All runs imitated

fasting conditions to simulate a worst-case scenario. A fed state scenario was also run but the pH effect from the added food was too large to ensure accuracy of the results. They were therefore not used.

ICP analysis

All samples were analyzed for metals by ICP-MS and/or ICP-AES. For the results presented in Papers I, II and III the analyses were carried out at the Environmental Laboratory at SLU in Umeå where the samples were analyzed for Al, As, Cd, Cr, Cu, Fe, Hg, Mn, Ni, Pb, W and Zn. In the bioaccessibility experiment presented in Paper IV, the digestates were analyzed for As, Cd, Cr, Ni, Pb and Zn at the Laboratory for Environmental Monitoring (LVM) at RIVM in Bilthoven, Holland.

Statistical analysis

The metal data presented in Papers I, II and III were not normally distributed and non-parametric statistical methods were therefore used throughout. Correlation analysis was carried out using Spearman's Rank Correlation, which presents the measure of the degree of linear relationship between variables, like the Pearson product moment correlation, but uses ranked data. The Mann-Whitney U-test was used for evaluating differences in metal contents between the top and the bottom soil layers (Paper I). In order to identify the total metal distribution in the sampled playgrounds, ranked multiple metal accumulation (rMMA) was used. The method of multiple metal accumulation (MMA) was used by Mielke *et al.* (2005) in order to compare the effect of the sum of metal accumulation in different districts in New Orleans, USA. The method presented in Paper II was used with ranked data in order to standardize the values and to compare the metal load of the different playgrounds.

Reimann & Filzmoser (1999) evaluated common statistical methods and their suitability for use on data without a normal distribution. They found cluster analysis as one of the more suitable multivariate methods. Cluster analysis of observations is used to classify similar observations, while cluster analysis of variables is used to classify similar variables into groups when the groups are initially unknown. Cluster analysis of variables was used to investigate the metal contents with regard to anthropogenic and natural origin. Cluster analysis of observations was used to group the playgrounds with regard to Cd, Cu, Hg, Pb and Zn load. The cluster analysis was performed using ranked data to standardize the values.

The data from the present study were also compared to data from a similar study carried out in Göteborg, Sweden (Rundquist & Johansson, 2000). It was assumed that elements found at significantly higher contents in Uppsala would indicate a geological rather than anthropogenic urban origin (comparison of medians, maximums and 10^{th} and 90^{th} percentiles).

In order to determine the proportions of metals present in each of the soil particle size fractions (PSF) investigated in Paper III, the metal content of each

fraction was calculated as a percentage of the metal content in the total soil fraction (<4 mm) using equation (1):

$$X(\%) = \frac{\text{PSF (\%) of total sample \times metal content in PSF (mg kg^{-1})}}{\text{metal content in total sample (mg kg^{-1})}} \times 100 \quad (1)$$

Enrichment ratios were also calculated for the metal contents in each size fraction for the two soils with the highest and lowest sand content, in order to investigate the importance of texture for metal and As distribution in the different soil particle size fractions.

The investigation of the bioaccessible soil metal fraction of the total metal content is presented in Paper IV. The bioaccessibility (BA) was calculated as a percentage of the total metal content measured by *aqua regía* in the study presented in Paper III using equation (2).

$$BA(\%) = \frac{\text{metal content } (\mu g g^{-1}) \text{ determined after intestinal phase}}{\text{metal content } (\mu g g^{-1}) \text{ determined after aqua regia digestion}} \times 100$$
(2)

The mean bioaccessibility (%) was calculated for each sampling site from the duplicate samples and runs. In order to compare the different size fractions and volumes, the bioaccessible contents expressed as μg were used. The bioaccessibility of each element from all sites (%) and the bioaccessible metal content of the different scenarios (μg) were presented in box plots. Box plots present the shape, dispersion, and centre of a data set. The box represents values between the first and third quartiles, the line drawn through the box represents the median of the data and the lines extending from the box indicate the lowest and highest values in the data set. Outliers are represented by asterisks. For correlation analysis of the metal contents and soil parameters, the Pearson correlation was used.

In the Discussion section of this thesis, the results from Paper I are presented in an individual value plot together with the guideline values for comparison and to illustrate the variation between sites.

MinitabTM Statistical Software releases 13.31 and 14 for Windows[®] were used for the statistical analysis.

Quality control

Sampling

In order to ensure that representative soil samples were collected, each sample was composed of five sub-samples collected within one square metre, with one sample from each corner of the square, and one sample core from the middle. The five sub-samples were thoroughly mixed prior to soil sample extraction for analysis. Three composite samples were collected from each playground. For the studies presented in Papers I and II, the three composite samples were analyzed individually, while the three samples were mixed giving one soil sample from each playground for the analyses presented in Papers III and IV.

Digestion

The same analysis results were used for the studies presented in Papers I and II. One in-house reference sample and one reference sample from the Turin team of the URBSOIL project were used to assess bias. Two blank samples were included in the digestive run to assess contamination. Duplicate samples were not included for financial reasons, but each playground was instead represented by three samples.

In the *aqua regia* digestion presented in Paper III, the three soil samples from each playground were mixed, as stated above. Duplicate samples were digested to assess precision. In total, six reagent blanks were included to assess contamination and five in-house reference samples were included to assess bias.

Duplicate samples were used through all analytical runs in the *in vitro* digestion presented in Paper IV and the procedure was repeated for all trials. Duplicate blank samples and reference soils were included in each digestive run. Two of the reference soils were certified materials (Montana 2710 and 2711) while two were in-house reference materials (Oker 11 from Germany and Flanders from Belgium).

The blank values were subtracted from the data prior to further statistical treatment. High Zn contents were detected in the blank samples of the *in vitro* digestion. The Zn data were therefore not used.

Analysis

The Environmental Laboratory at SLU has developed a computer programme (QLab) based on the principles of GUM (1995) and EURACHEM/CITAC (1999) to ensure quality. The programme calculates a 95% confidence interval from the uncertainty of measurement corrected for sources of errors from drift, calibration and bias. For the data presented in Papers I and II, the confidence interval was below 10% for all elements except Hg, which was found at 19%. For the data presented in Paper III, the confidence interval for all elements except Hg was less than 10%, while for Hg and W it was 22 and 14%, respectively.

The RVA laboratory at the RIVM is accredited according to ISO 17025 (ISO, 2001b) and a routine method was applied for analysis of the samples in the current study. For quality control aspects, the method is validated for the limit of detection, reproducibility, repeatability, recovery and trueness. The measurement uncertainties were 9% for As, Cd, Cr and Zn, 10.8% for Pb and 12.7% for Ni.

Results and Discussion

This section presents the most important findings from each of the experiments carried out and a discussion on conclusive findings. A more general discussion on the significance of the results with regard to on-going risk assessment is made in a subsequent section.

Uppsala urban soil

As discussed above, there are several soil characteristics that separate urban soil from naturally developed soils. The results from the current studies are presented in Table 5 and showed that Uppsala is not an exception.

Table 5. Organic matter content (%), pH, texture and particle size distribution (%) in the different soil depths analysed

Depth	0-5 cm				5-10 cm		1	10-20 cm		
	min	mean	max	min	mean	max	min	mean	max	
pH H ₂ O	4.7	7.1	8.1	4.6	7.2	8.1	4.8	7.3	8.4	
LOI (%)	1.4	6.8	12.7	1.4	5.1	8.7	1.0	4.1	8.0	
Depth	Depth						1	10-20 cm		
Texture analysi	s (%)			min	mean	max	min	mean	max	
Clay (<2 µm)				7.7	22.1	35.4	8.3	26.7	44.8	
Silt (2 µm-20 µ			11.1	23.7	41.0	13.9	28.0	45.4		
Fine sand (20 µ	m)		13.7	29.6	50.1	9.6	25.8	45.7		
Coarse sand (200 µm-2 mm)					16.7	31.8	1.4	13.9	35.7	
Depth					0-10 cm					
Size distributio			min	mean	max					
<50 µm					23	42				
50-100 μm			5	10	16					
100 µm-4 mm			47	63	73					
>4 mm			0	5	13					

The relatively low content of fine particles in the sampled soil is contradictory to the large presence of glacial and postglacial clay in the area. The north-eastern part of Uppsala city is dominated by postglacial clay (Figure 1 in Paper I), with clay contents up to 60%. The esker that runs through the city is made up of glaciofluvial deposits overlain with clay, while the western part rests on glacial clay with clay contents of 45-80% (Gretener, 1994). The soils in the present study displayed average clay contents of 22% and a dominance of particles sized >50 μ m. The finer particles were also more abundant in the bottom layer.

The relatively low presence of fine particles in the sampled soils indicates that foreign material has been added or mixed with the original soil, which is a common practice in urban areas. In fact, large parts of the central area of the city were excavated in the 19th century for brick and pottery making, thereafter the quarries were filled with foreign material, most likely waste (R. Agius, pers. comm. 2005). Considering the location of the sampled sites in playgrounds, it is also likely that sandbox sand has been added to the soil by children playing nearby, increasing its content of larger particles, especially in the top layer. A contributing factor for the slight difference in particle size distribution between the top and the bottom layer is the lack of vegetation cover, which enables splashing raindrops to break up aggregates and wash finer particles downwards in the profile (Craul, 1985).

Metals in Uppsala urban playground soil

Although Uppsala is Sweden's fourth largest city, it is relatively small, with a population of 136,500. Despite its main history of academic and religious importance, the short time period (~100 years) of significant industrial activity has left its marks on Uppsala's soil. In order to put the metal contents of Uppsala's playgrounds in relation to soil metal contents in other cities, the results from the current study (Table 6) can be compared to those of other cities (Table 1). Such a comparison shows that Uppsala does not have exceptionally high or low contents of any metal.

Natural and anthropogenic origin of metals in Uppsala playgrounds (*Paper I*)

In the study presented in Paper I, an attempt was made to distinguish between metals of natural and anthropogenic origin. Results from a study in Göteborg,



Figure 6. Comparison between maximum (a), 90th percentile (b), median (c) and 10th percentile (d) of metal contents in Göteborg (\blacksquare) and Uppsala (\Box). 0-20 cm.

Sweden's second largest city were chosen for comparison. The Göteborg samples were collected and analyzed in a similar way compared to the methods used in the Uppsala study (Rundquist & Johansson, 2000). It was assumed that metals present at significantly higher contents in Uppsala compared to Göteborg (a larger and more industrialized city) would indicate a natural origin of those elements. Figure 6 shows a comparison of nine elements in Uppsala and Göteborg.

All elements except Hg and Pb had higher median contents in Uppsala than in Göteborg. Median contents of W were 700% higher in Uppsala, while Cr and Ni were found at 400% higher and As, Cu and Zn at 150% higher contents. Mercury and Pb were enriched in the Göteborg soil by 150%. Considering the large differences in Cr, Ni and W between the cities as well as findings by other authors on elevated contents of these metals in the Uppsala area (Ek, 1992; Möller, 1993; Ekelund, Nilsson & Ressar, 1993) it suggests that they are mainly derived from natural rather than anthropogenic sources. The similar median contents of As, Cu, Hg, Pb and Zn in the two cities suggest that these metals either mainly originate from anthropogenic sources, common for the two soil environments, or that the background contents are similar for the two cities. The Uppsala and Göteborg data are presented in Table 6 together with urban background values and metal contents of agricultural soil both nationally and in the Uppsala area.

Table 6. Median urban soil metal contents (mg kg⁻¹, Al & Fe %) in Uppsala playgrounds and Göteborg together with background values and mean metal content in agricultural soils nationally and in Uppsala

		Url	oan soil		Urban back value		Agricultural soil		
	Uppsal	a playgro	ounds	Göteborg ¹	Uppsala ²	Sweden ³	Uppsala ⁴	Sweden ⁴	
Depth (cm)	0-5	5-10	10-20	0-20	0-20	0-20	0-20	0-20	
Al	1.84	2.25	2.47						
As	3.46	3.91	3.86	2.6	8	3	4.4	4.0	
Cd	0.21	0.21	0.22	0.19		0.23	0.27	0.23	
Cr	31.6	37.7	43.3	10	35	20	40	20.5	
Cu	25.4	25.6	26.0	18	24	12	29	14.6	
Fe	2.49	2.76	3.03						
Hg	0.14	0.15	0.13	0.21		n.d.	0.04	0.04	
Mn	494	526	573				518	422	
Ni	18.5	21.1	23.2	6	21	14			
Pb	25.5	24.6	26.4	38	22	11	21	17.1	
W	0.35	0.35	0.35	0.05					
Zn	84.0	90.4	98.6	69	85	41	95	59	
¹ Rundquist & Johansson, 2000					³ Naturvårdsverket, 1997a				

² Andersson, unpublished

³ Naturvårdsverket, 1997a

⁴ Eriksson, Andersson & Andersson, 1997

A study on trace elements in Swedish agricultural soils carried out by Eriksson, Andersson & Andersson (1997) concluded that contents of Cd, Hg, Pb and Zn have been largely affected by anthropogenic additions. The soil contents have increased by 33, 46, 14 and 10%, respectively for the four elements during the past century. In the study, the authors found that the contents of the remaining trace elements (As, B, Cr, Cu, Mn, Se) were largely affected by the parent material. Chromium was found at elevated contents in the Uppsala region due to natural sources, supporting the assumption on the origin of Cr stated above. The urban background values also showed a higher Cr content in Uppsala than in Sweden in general. However, the urban background values determined for Uppsala as well as the agricultural soil contents show elevated contents of most elements compared to the national contents.

The background values include diffuse metal addition, which should be higher in larger cities. Although Uppsala is not a large city, it is the fourth largest of the 22 cities sampled for the study of background values, which could explain its elevated metal contents compared to the national values. According to Eriksson, Andersson & Andersson (1997), elevated metal contents in agricultural soils in Uppsala are most likely due to the high clay content of soils in the region, favouring metal binding. The large difference in soil characteristics between urban and agricultural soils also makes comparison difficult. Moreover, while agricultural soils commonly contain significant contents of organic matter, which effectively retains metals, the urban soils investigated had very low organic matter contents. However, Table 6 shows that contents of all elements except As in the playground soils of Uppsala corresponded well with the background values determined for urban Uppsala.

In order to try to determine common main origin of the remaining elements of the Uppsala study, a cluster analysis was carried out. The dendrogram is shown in Figure 7.



Figure 7. Cluster analysis of metals, 0-20 cm depth (n=75) showing two separate clusters with similarities above 75%. The left cluster holds elements mainly of natural origin, while the right cluster shows elements of mainly anthropogenic origin.

The cluster analysis on the Uppsala data divided the metals into two main groups with a similarity of around 75%. The metals suggested as being of mainly natural origin from the comparison with the Göteborg data were clustered together, with Al, Fe and Mn. The separation of W into its own cluster is likely due to its differing chemical properties. All elements presumably of natural origin except Mn were found at a greater similarity (90%) than the elements of the other cluster, presumed to be of anthropogenic origin. This suggests that there are several sources of these elements and what clusters them together is the lack of similarity with the elements of the other cluster, rather than a similarity between the metals within the cluster.

According to Baize & Sterckeman (2001), there is a linear relationship between the Fe content of a soil and its contents of Cu, Cr, Ni, Pb and Zn, which can be used to determine natural origins of these elements. A strong significant correlation was found between Fe and Cr and between Fe and Ni, while no correlation was found for Fe and Cu, Pb or Zn, which further supports the division of these elements into anthropogenic and natural origins presented above. Moreover, findings by De Miguel *et al.* (1997), Senesi *et al.* (1999) and Tijhuis, Brattli & Sæther (2002) on the origin of urban metals in Madrid, Mieres and Oslo respectively, support the division of the investigated metals into the two clusters identified in the present study.

What determines the metal distribution in urban playground soil? (Paper II)

The original hypothesis for the study presented in Paper II was that the land use in which the sampled playgrounds are located would determine the level of soil metal input. However, the results showed that there was no correlation between the land use categories and the metal amounts found in the soil. Instead, the metal content was found to be more determined by the soil's clay content and the year of construction of the playground. While enriched clay content increases the soil's adsorption capacity, the general immobility of metals once in the soil enables an accumulation over time, resulting in higher metal contents in older soils. Moreover, the older soils were present on-site during the relatively short period of significant industrial activity in Uppsala, while fresh soil has been added to the more recent playgrounds built during the second half of the 1900s.

The results of the current study deviate from other authors' findings on relationships between land use and soil metal content (Linde, Bengtsson & Öborn, 2001; Li, Poon & Liu, 2001). It should be noted that Uppsala is not an industrial city with large internal pollution sources, but instead receives its greatest metal input from long distance atmospheric deposition, which is most likely deposited evenly over the city. Age of land and soil clay content may therefore be relatively more important factors for metal distribution in soils of cities without major internal pollution sources.

The relationships between the ranked multiple metal accumulation (rMMA) of each playground and its clay content and pH, as well as the year of construction are displayed in Figure 8. Four of the five playgrounds located in the city centre were found to have high rMMA values. The city centre playgrounds were expected to have enriched metal contents due to higher traffic intensities and the more central location of industrial areas in the past. However, two of the playgrounds located on natural land, at some distance from any metal sources, were found to have the third and fourth highest rMMAs. Likewise, several of the playgrounds located in land use areas with expected high metal inputs were found to have low rMMAs (traffic, discontinued and present industrial land).

Figure 8 shows a general decrease in clay content with decreasing rMMA value, which suggests that the clay content is a more important factor for metal and As content than surrounding land use. Strong correlations were found between the clay content and contents of As, Al, Cu, Fe, Ni, Pb and Zn. Tungsten was found to correlate to the general parameters in the opposite way to the remaining elements and was also found at low contents where the remaining elements were elevated. This further indicates a stronger association between metal content and soil conditions on-site than with input from surrounding pollution sources in Uppsala.



Figure 8. Bar chart of ranked multiple metal accumulation (rMMA) (0-5 cm) for each playground together with pH, clay content (%) and year of construction (C=city centre, I=industrial area, T=roadsides, D=discontinued industrial land, N=natural land).

Another important factor is likely to be the age of the playground, since the playgrounds with high rMMA values were in general also the oldest. Since metals are rather immobile once they reach the soil system, any relocation is likely to be physical rather than chemical. Metals disseminated on the soil surface in the past are therefore still present in the soil today. It could explain why the playgrounds located on natural land, expected to have low metal contents, were found to have high rMMA values. Those playgrounds have not been built up, like the playgrounds constructed on old industrial sites, and the children play on soils that have not been imported and renewed.

The four playgrounds located in public parks had high rMMAs. Those areas have been kept as green areas as the city expanded around them. This further explains why several of the playgrounds located on past and present industrial land as well as near trafficked roads do not have the expected high metal contents. It is common practice to import soil for the upper horizon to a site for new constructions. By the time most of the sampled playgrounds with low rMMA values were built, the industrial days of Uppsala were past by about one century.

A cluster analysis was performed in order to evaluate the distribution of Cd, Cu, Hg, Pb and Zn (previously concluded to be of anthropogenic origin) among the sampled playgrounds (Figure 9). The analysis divided the sites into two main clusters, where the sites in cluster A had low contents of these five metals. These sites were also found to have low rMMA values, with the exception of sites T2 and D3. The high rMMA values for these two sites were due to high contents of Fe, As and Cr, Ni, respectively. The sites in cluster B had elevated contents of the metals of anthropogenic origin. All sites but T4 had high rMMA values, and the division of T4 into cluster B was likely due to its high contents of anthropogenic metals in comparison with its contents of natural elements. The sites with elevated anthropogenic metal contents in cluster B also had elevated contents of the natural elements, which explain the similarity in distributions between the cluster analysis and the rMMA. It indicates that the metal content of the sampled sites was not mainly determined by point-pollution sources, which would be apparent from a metal distribution by land use, but was more dependent on the soil characteristics on-site as well as addition from diffuse pollution sources.



Figure 9. Dendrogram of cluster analysis of observations; Cd, Cu, Hg, Pb and Zn, showing A) sites less affected by anthropogenic metals and B) sites with elevated contents of anthropogenic metals.

Soil metals and children's soil ingestion

While most playgrounds in Uppsala had metal contents below the generic guideline values, there were a few that exceeded the Swedish guideline values for As, Cd, Cu, Hg, Ni and Pb. This finding was surprising, in particular since these playgrounds were mainly located in seemingly unaffected areas; in forested areas classified as natural land use. Further studies were carried out to assess the metal content with regard to soil particle sizes of relevance to children's soil ingestion, as well as the bioaccessibility of the soil metals detected.

Differences in metal contents between soil particle size fractions (*Paper III*)

In the study presented in Paper III, the difference in metal contents between different particle size fractions of relevance to children's soil ingestion was investigated. The <50 μ m fraction represents soil that may be involuntarily ingested, since particles in this fraction adhere easily to hands. The <4 mm fraction was chosen to represent soil that may be ingested deliberately. A third size fraction of 50-100 μ m was included to represent soil particles that are easily transported by suspension to locations away from the original source. All fractions were measured after dissolution in *aqua regía*, which is comparable to the method recommended for using the guideline values (Lax, unpublished). The results are presented in Table 7 together with enrichment ratios between the different size fractions.

		mgl	kg ⁻¹		median ratio			
	<2 mm	<4 mm 50-100 μm		<50 µm		<2mm:	<50 µm:	<50 µm:
	<∠ mm					<4 mm	<4 mm	<2 mm
Al	20100	25214	23499	37250		0.8	1.5	1.9
As	3.83	3.26	3.22	5.47		1.2	1.7	1.4
Cd	0.21	0.20	0.22	0.30		1.1	1.5	1.4
Cr	34.6	40.2	33.8	64.0		0.9	1.6	1.8
Cu	24.8	25.4	28.3	43.1		1.0	1.7	1.7
Fe	26960	29900	27454	43550		0.9	1.5	1.6
Hg	0.14	0.51	0.52	0.66		0.3	1.3	4.7
Mn	508	713	960	1445		0.7	2.0	2.8
Ni	20.1	21.5	20.3	36.1		0.9	1.7	1.8
Pb	23.7	25.9	25.6	38.4		0.9	1.5	1.6
W	0.35	0.27	0.50	0.32		1.3	1.2	0.9
Zn	88.2	83.5	75.5	147		1.0	1.7	2.1

Table 7. Median metal contents (mg kg⁻¹) in each of the investigated soil particle size fractions together with the median ratios between the different size fractions (0-10 cm depth, n=25)

The study found that there was little or no difference in metal contents between the 50-100 μ m and the <4 mm fractions as well as the <2 mm fraction measured in previous experiments. This suggests that analysis of the <2 mm fraction used for risk assessment purposes accurately predicts the metal content in soil ingested

deliberately. However, the <50 μ m fraction had on average 150% higher metal contents compared to the larger size fractions. The enrichment in the finest fraction is likely attributable to the affinity of metals to bind to small particles because of the relatively larger surface area and the data demonstrate the difference in metal content obtained from analyzing different soil particle fractions.

The study also found differences in metal content of the finest size fraction related to texture of the total soil sample. While the metal contents in the two larger size fractions displayed an expected increase in metal content with decreased sand content of the total sample, the metal content of the smallest size fraction showed the opposite relationship; samples with a high sand content displayed elevated metal contents in the smallest size fraction compared to samples with low sand content, corresponding to high clay content. Enrichment ratios between the different size fractions were calculated for the two soils with the highest and lowest sand contents (58% and 13%, respectively) and are displayed in Table 8.

	High	sand content	(58%)		Low sand content (13%)				
	<2 mm <50 μm ·		<50 µm	-	<2 mm	<50 µm	50 µm		
	:	:	:		:	:	:		
	<4 mm	<4 mm	<2 mm		<4 mm	<4 mm	<2 mm		
Al	0.6	1.7	2.8		0.8	1.0	1.3		
As	0.3	2.8	3.1		1.1	1.0	0.9		
Cd	0.3	2.7	3.9		1.3	1.0	0.8		
Cr	0.3	2.2	2.9		0.9	1.0	1.2		
Cu	0.3	2.5	3.8		0.9	1.0	1.1		
Fe	0.8	1.7	2.3		0.4	1.1	1.2		
Hg	0.0	3.3	-		0.4	0.9	2.3		
Mn	0.3	2.3	4.0		0.6	1.4	1.8		
Ni	0.3	2.4	3.1		0.9	1.0	1.1		
Pb	0.3	2.7	3.7		1.1	0.9	0.9		
W	1.1	1.2	0.9		1.5	1.1	0.7		
Zn	0.3	2.5	3.1		1.0	1.1	1.0		

Table 8. Metal enrichment ratios for different soil particle size fractions in two soils with high and low sand content (58% and 13%, respectively)

The enrichment ratios showed that while there was little or no difference in metal contents between the smallest and largest particle size fractions in the soil with a low sand content, the high sand content soil had on average 250% higher metal content in the <50 μ m fraction than in the <4 mm fraction, and on average 300% higher metal contents than in the <2 mm fraction (Table 8). This is probably due to the preference of metal ions to sorb to small-sized particles, and in a sandy soil the scarcity of attractive binding sites results in a concentration of metal ions on the smallest particles. The results support findings by Sheppard & Evenden (1994), who demonstrated that the highest metal enrichment in soil adhering to skin was associated with sandy soils, since the bulk of the sorbed contaminant is on the fine particles that adhere readily to skin but make up only a small fraction

of the total soil mass. The findings that the low sand content soil showed insignificant differences in metal contents between the particle size fractions suggest that in soils with low metal load and a large proportion of fine particles, the effect of particle size is diminished since enough of the most attractive binding sites are available.

The results of the study have implications for risk assessment with regard to children's soil intake, since a soil analysis on the recommended size range of <2 mm will generate a total metal content quite different from the metal content in the smallest-sized particles of the same soil. Stanek *et al.* (1998) found that children more often put sand and stones in their mouths than soil and dirt. While parents are likely to hinder children from swallowing stones and large amounts of sand, children may well swallow the smaller particles attached to the ingested sand and stones, which may hold the highest metal content.

Effects of soil mass and particle size on metal bioaccessibility (Paper IV)

As has been stated above, the potential health risks for children from soil ingestion depend on the bioaccessibility of the ingested metals in the human body. The soil particle size fractions investigated in Paper III representing deliberate and involuntary soil ingestion were in the study presented in Paper IV investigated with regard to bioaccessibility using an *in vitro* digestion model. Differences between particle size fractions and between ingested soil masses were studied. The results from the *in vitro* digestion were compared with the total contents obtained in the study presented in Paper III, giving a percentage bioaccessibility of the different elements.

Figure 10 presents the results from the *in vitro* analyses of three different intake scenarios for As, Cd, Cr, Ni and Pb. The bioaccessibility as a percentage of the amount obtained from the *aqua regia* digestion is presented on the y-axis, while the letters on the x-axis represent three different intake scenarios: A = deliberate intake of 2 g soil (pica behaviour) of the particle size <4 mm, B = deliberate intake of a smaller amount of soil (0.6 g) sized <4 mm, and C = involuntary intake (0.6 g) of small particles (<50 μ m).

The results show that the bioaccessible fraction was generally quite low for Cr, Ni and Pb, while Cd and As showed higher bioaccessibility. The difference between the elements is probably due to differences in sorption behaviour. As stated above, metals derived from anthropogenic sources are commonly more bioaccessible than those derived from natural sources. The results support this assumption on bioaccessibility with regard to origin for Cd, Cr and Ni. Since metals of mainly natural origin have been on-site for a longer period of time than those of anthropogenic origin, the metals of natural origin are more likely to be less soluble than the more recent inputs from anthropogenic sources because of rate limiting processes. The rate of diffusion into pore spaces and particles decreases with increasing ionic diameter: Pb>Cd>Ni>As>Cr (Sparks, 2003), which also supports the results of low bioaccessibility of Ni and Cr and higher

bioaccessibility of Cd. However, it is contradictory to the findings of high As bioaccessibility and low Pb bioaccessibility.



Figure 10. Boxplot of As, Cd, Cr, Ni and Pb bioaccessibility (%) from the three intake scenarios: A= Deliberate ingestion, pica behaviour (<4 mm, 2 g), B= Deliberate ingestion, non-pica (<4 mm, 0.6 g), C= Involuntary ingestion (<50 μ m, 0.6 g). (*n*=25).

The relatively high bioaccessibility of As compared to Ni and Cr, also of natural origin in the studied soils, can therefore not be explained by higher solubility related to origin or a slower rate of diffusion into pore spaces and particles. However, the results support previous findings by other authors: Davis, Ruby & Bergstrom (1992) found the bioaccessibility of Pb and As in the intestinal compartment to be 0.18% and 12% respectively, while Ellickson et al. (2001) found 65.9% As and 10.7% Pb to be bioaccessible in the same compartment. The higher bioaccessibility of As is therefore more likely due to its differing chemical properties. Arsenic present in oxygen-rich soils is commonly found as As(V), which is present as an anion in the natural pH range of soils (pH 4-8) (Ruby *et al.*, 1999). It can then be assumed that the As of the soils investigated here was primarily in anionic form in the neutral intestinal environment, more readily bioaccessible than the cations. The decreased mobility of cations with increasing pH and the converse behaviour of anions could thereby explain the high bioaccessibility of As in the neutral intestinal environment compared to the other elements of natural origin.

The bioaccessible fraction of the total Pb content was similar to that of Cr and Ni. A correlation analysis of the playground soils showed that only Pb demonstrated a strong correlation to variations in gastrointestinal pH. Ruby *et al.* (1996) found that Pb, but not As, was largely removed from solution by readsorption and precipitation in the intestinal compartment with higher pH because of the stronger pH dependence of Pb. Yang *et al.* (2003) also found that Pb

bioaccessibility was strongly influenced by gastrointestinal pH, while the bioaccessibility of As was relatively unaffected. Regarding the re-adsorption to soil constituents in the intestinal phase, the low bioaccessibility results for Pb in the present study imply that the re-adsorption and precipitation reactions were more pronounced for Pb than for Cd and As.

Bioaccessibility of the different intake scenarios

The bioaccessibility expressed as a percentage of total content is affected by soil mass and total content. In order to compare the different soil intake scenarios, the bioaccessibility values expressed as μg were used instead (Figure 11). Chromium was excluded, since most sites had contents below the detection limit. More detailed data from each playground and each intake scenario is found in Table 3 of Paper IV.



Figure 11. Bioaccessible contents of As, Cd, Ni and Pb (μ g) for the different intake scenarios: A= Deliberate ingestion, pica behaviour (<4 mm, 2 g), B= Deliberate ingestion, non-pica (<4 mm, 0.6 g), C= Involuntary ingestion (<50 μ m, 0.6 g).

Since small particles have larger adsorption capacity, the bioaccessible amount was expected to be larger for the $<50 \mu m$ fraction than for the $<4 \mu m$ fraction, when the same soil mass was used. This was true for the few sites that had detectable As contents. It was also true for around half the sites for bioaccessible Cd and Ni. However, several sites had similar bioaccessible contents (μg) for both size fractions. The soils used in the current study have low metal loads, and also a significant proportion of clay particles (on average 22%). It can then be assumed that the preferred sorption sites of the soils were not saturated due to the low metal load. The separation of particles into the fractions analyzed would therefore not influence the Cd and Ni distributions significantly, since both fractions contain the smallest sized particles. In contrast to As, Cd and Ni, all but five sites had higher bioaccessible Pb contents in the larger size fraction of $<4 \mu m$ than in the smaller size fraction of $<50 \mu m$. The bioaccessible Pb content also differed from As, Cd

and Ni when comparing the different soil mass scenarios. The expected result of higher bioaccessible content with larger amount of ingested soil held true for As, Cd and Ni. For Pb, it was instead the smaller soil mass of the larger soil particle size fraction (scenario B) that had the highest bioaccessible content at most sites.

Since Pb has the strongest pH dependence of the elements investigated, it is necessary to analyze the relationship between the gastrointestinal pH values and the bioaccessibility of Pb in order to understand its behaviour. It is likely that the strong pH dependence of Pb is the reason for its divergent bioaccessibility results. Figure 12 presents the stomach and intestinal pH values measured after two hours of mixing of the different soil fractions with the stomach juice and the subsequent two hours of mixing with the intestinal juice. The peaks observed for sites N5 and T1 were due to enriched CaCO₃ contents compared to the remaining sites.



Figure 12. Measured pH in stomach and intestinal compartments after digestion.

The different scenarios displayed significant differences in gastrointestinal pH. The <4 mm pica scenario had the greatest variation in pH and also the highest pH values. While a smaller variation was observed for the involuntary <50 μ m scenario, the deliberate non-pica scenario of <4 mm showed almost no variation between sites and also the lowest pH values. The differences in pH are due to interactions between the gastrointestinal juices and the soil constituents when soil reaches the stomach and intestinal compartments. It can be assumed that since both a smaller particle size and a larger soil mass increases the potential exchange capacity of the soil, the pH is raised through exchange of surface sorbants with hydrogen ions. As pH increases, metals become less mobile and less bioaccessible. As elements differ in pH dependence, differences in pH affect the bioaccessibility of metals to different degrees.

In correlation analyses of the gastrointestinal pH values and the bioaccessible metal contents, Pb only showed a strong correlation to pH in the involuntary ingestion and pica scenarios. For the <4 mm non-pica scenario, Pb was equally weakly correlated to the gastrointestinal pH as the remaining elements, most likely due to the lack of variation in gastrointestinal pH for that scenario. The bioaccessible Pb content showed a stronger correlation with the total Pb content in the <4 mm non-pica scenario (r=0.729, p<0.01) than in the pica scenario (p=0.537, p<0.01). This suggests that the bioaccessible content in the <4 mm non-pica scenario (r=0.729, p<0.01) than in the pica scenario (p=0.537, p<0.01). This suggests that the bioaccessible content in the <4 mm non-pica scenario was related to the total content, while gastrointestinal pH largely determined the bioaccessible Pb content in the pica scenario. It can be concluded that while the bioaccessibility of Pb is strongly dependent on the gastrointestinal pH, the total content determines the variation in Pb bioaccessibility between sites in the absence of pH variation. The ingested mass of soil did not seem to determine the Pb bioaccessibility.

All but five sites displayed higher bioaccessible Pb contents in the <4 mm fraction than in the <50 μ m fraction. As has been stated above, the pH was higher in both the stomach and intestinal compartments for the smaller size fraction. This implies that the bioaccessibility of Pb was also more dependent on pH than on particle size. The five sites that had higher bioaccessible Pb content in the <50 μ m fraction than in the <4 mm fraction were also those with the lowest clay contents (around 10%). As suggested above, the preference for Pb sorption to fine particles diminishes the effect of particle size range in soils with low metal loads, since most metal ions are bound to these small particles, which were present in both scenarios. However, when the number of fine particles was limited, an effect of particle size on Pb bioaccessibility was observed.

Guideline Values and Risk Assessment

Uppsala playgrounds and guideline values

While most playgrounds in Uppsala had metal contents below the guideline values, there were a few sites that exceeded the Swedish guideline values (GV) for As, Cd, Cu, Hg, Ni and Pb. Figure 13 shows the individual metal contents of the <2 mm fraction at each sampling site, measured after dissolution in *aqua regia*, together with the generic guideline values.

Analysis carried out in accordance with the Swedish recommendation for risk assessment showed that three playgrounds within Uppsala exceeded the guideline values for Cd, Cu, Hg, Pb, Ni and As. The playground with elevated contents of Cd, Cu, Hg and Pb is situated on the grounds of an old school built in 1905 and was categorized into the natural land use group. Only soil from the sampling points nearest to the school building exceeded the guideline value. It is likely that the soil at the two other sampling points has been altered and imported soil has been added during renewal of parts of the playground, resulting in lower soil metal contents. Elevated Pb content at the sampling site closest to the building may also

originate from Pb based paint used in the past. Another probable source of metals to the playground is a crematorium located nearby, known to release the above metals, particularly Hg.



Figure 13. Individual value plots of As, Cd, Cr, Cu, Ni, Pb and Zn contents (mg kg⁻¹) in the <2 mm fraction for each playground. Guideline values are presented in bold letters and with black lines (—), n=75.

The playground having soil contents of Ni exceeding the guideline value was also located at an old school in the natural land use category. This site also had elevated contents of Al, Fe and Cr and had the highest clay content of all sampling sites, supporting the above conclusion that soil characteristics is a more important factor for soil metal content than surrounding land use. The site with As contents exceeding the guideline value is also classified as a natural land use playground. Apart from As, elevated contents of Cu, Cr and W were detected at this playground. Since all elevated elements except W are common components of wood preservatives, frequently used in the past for outdoor wood constructions, this is a likely source.

The present guideline values are set with regard to intended land use. Areas where children reside, such as playgrounds, have the highest protection value. Although the guidelines are not strict values, but rather indications of soil metal contents that should not be exceeded, they are often wrongly used as action limits. If the total contents of the three playgrounds described above were carelessly used for risk assessment, the results would suggest a need to remediate the three playgrounds. The finding that playgrounds located in seemingly undisturbed forested areas in the outskirts of a rather small urban area have metal contents that exceed the guideline values supports what has already been suggested; that the present guideline values are set with unrealistic precaution. However, the recommended procedure for analyzing soil metals for risk assessment does not consider differences in metal contents between particle size fractions or between total and bioaccessible content. Depending on soil type and investigated element, these differences may be significant, and disregarding these differences may result in an over- or underestimation of potential risks from soil intake.

Implications of using different measurement techniques for risk assessment

In the experiments carried out for this thesis, metal contents in soil were measured from different aspects. Table 9 presents the metal contents from three different experiments: 1) Median total content (mg kg⁻¹) in the <2 mm fraction; 2) median total contents (mg kg⁻¹) in the <50 μ m, 50-100 μ m and <4 mm fractions and; 3) bioaccessible contents (%) in the <50 μ m and <4 mm fractions, from both normal and pica soil intake. The data in Table 9 show significant differences in metal contents between the different experiments.

 Table 9. Median metal contents of the investigated soils from the aqua regía (mg kg⁻¹) and in vitro (%) digestions of each particle size fraction used
 In vitro digestion

 Aqua regía digestion
 In vitro digestion

			Aqua re	In vitro digestion						
Particle	2 mm			<50	<50 50-100 <4			<50 µm <4 mm <4 mm		
size		2 11111			μm	mm	0.6 g	0.6 g	2 g	
Depth (cm)	0-5	5-10	10-20	0-10	0-10	0-10	0-10	0-10	0-10	
Al	18400	22500	24700	37250	23600	25300	-	-	-	
As	3.46	3.91	3.86	5.47	3.31	3.31	17	31	10	
Cd	0.214	0.212	0.218	0.30	0.22	0.21	28	27	14	
Cr	31.6	37.7	43.3	64.0	34.3	40.2	4	5	2	
Cu	25.4	25.6	26.0	43.1	28.6	25.8	-	-	-	
Fe	24900	27600	30300	43550	27600	29900	-	-	-	
Hg	0.139	0.146	0.130	0.66	0.52	0.52	-	-	-	
Mn	494	526	573	1445	963	714	-	-	-	
Ni	18.5	21.1	23.2	36.1	20.3	21.5	4	8	4	
Pb	25.5	24.6	26.4	38.4	25.7	26.0	5	9	3	
W	0.346	0.350	0.345	0.32	0.50	0.27	-	-	-	
Zn	84.0	90.4	98.6	147	84.7	89.2	-	-	-	

Soil particle size

The particle size chosen for analysis for the application of the guideline values, <2 mm, is set from a practical point of view: It is, and has long been, a common particle size for soil analysis, but it is not necessarily the most relevant particle size fraction for soil analysis with regard to children's soil ingestion. The results from the study in Paper III showed that the metal intake from the <2 mm particle size fraction, which was investigated for comparison with the guideline values corresponded well to an assumed particle size of <4 mm for deliberate ingestion. However, it is unlikely that children sieve soil down to 2 mm in size prior to ingestion. Studies have instead shown that children mainly ingest soil of a much smaller particle size due to involuntary soil ingestion through their hand-to-mouth behaviour. Since metals and other pollutants are commonly concentrated on the smallest particles, these may have a higher metal content per soil mass than particles of a smaller particle size with regard to children's soil ingestion,

especially if a worst-case scenario is to be evaluated in risk assessments. The results from Paper III showed that it is especially important to consider differences in metal content between particle sizes in coarse-grained soils, where the finer fraction probably holds a considerately higher soil metal content than what is obtained from analysis of the total fraction.

Bioaccessibility

In the risk assessment guidelines that are currently used in Sweden, the metal contents in soil are assumed to be 100% bioaccessible, i.e. equal to the total content. As can be seen in Table 9, the bioaccessible metal fractions were below 100% in the investigated soils. Moreover, the bioaccessibility differed between soil particle sizes, as well as ingested soil mass. However, while the bioaccessibility of As, Cd and Ni at many sites corresponded to the findings of Paper III regarding higher metal content in smaller particles compared to a larger soil particle size fraction, the relationship did not apply for Pb. Likewise, the expected result of increased bioaccessibility with increased soil mass held true for most, but not all, sites for As, Cd and Ni, and only for a few sites for Pb. The finding that the expected relationship was not applicable to all sites shows the difficulties with predicting bioaccessibility from results on total metal contents. In the human body, both soil characteristics and factors in the gastrointestinal environment affect the bioaccessibility of soil metals. The age of the child, whether it has eaten or not as well as the soil's clay and organic matter content, the ingested soil mass and particle size fraction are some of the factors that affect the bioaccessibility as well as the gastrointestinal pH, which in turn had a large effect on especially Pb bioaccessibility in the experiments in Paper IV. Moreover, whether the metal is of natural or anthropogenic origin and its dependence on pH affect its sorption and desorption behaviour which also affects bioaccessibility.

The results presented in Paper IV also showed that because of the relatively low metal load of the soils investigated, the clay content was an important factor for metal bioaccessibility in the different size fractions. At sites where the clay content was high enough to provide sufficient sorption sites, the effect of particle size was diminished since both fractions investigated included the finer sized particles. In more contaminated soils, the clay content may have a different effect on metal bioaccessibility.

Concluding remarks

The work carried out within the context of this thesis provides evidence of the necessity of thorough soil investigations in order to correctly assess risks from soil contamination with regard to children's soil ingestion. It is of course better to be safe than sorry after remediation efforts have been carried out, but generalizations and assumptions of unrealistic conditions may result in gross overestimations of risks from soil intake, with corresponding costs for society. One example is the Uppsala playground with elevated Hg, Pb and Cd contents. According to the

guidelines, the soil metal contents were such that remedial action should be taken to ensure safe soil metal levels, while the bioaccessibility results showed that the metal contents did not pose any particular health risks to the children playing at the site. Generalisations may also result in underestimations of risks, as has been shown by the metal analysis of the different soil particle size fractions, where the fine particles that are often ingested involuntarily had significantly higher metal contents than the original soil. Increasing costs in the initial stages of risk assessment by going beyond soil analysis of the bulk soil's total metal content, by including bioaccessibility tests and a more exposure-specific perspective might lower the cost of actual remediation. Of course, exposure routes other than direct soil intake also have to be considered in risk assessment, but it is likely that a more realistic starting point would result in more site-specific and effective remedial efforts, regardless of exposure route.

Including more thorough soil analyses in risk assessment would also provide better knowledge on the behaviour of metals once ingested, since knowledge on metal behaviour in soil seems to be inadequate for accurate health risk assessment. Moreover, it seems difficult to set a generic bioaccessibility value for a specific metal, because of its varied degree of interaction with soil and gastrointestinal solution constituents. More studies on metal bioaccessibility in different types of soils and various metal contents are necessary to attain greater understanding of the risks of soil metals. Moreover, the complex chemistry of Pb with regard to bioaccessibility, as well as its severe negative health effects on children even at low blood levels, warrant further studies on polluted as well as non-polluted soils.

References

- Abrahams, P.W. 2002. Soils: Their implications to human health. The Science of the Total Environment 291, 1-32.
- Agius, R. former chairman of Uppsala Association for industrial heritage, author of Uppsalas industrihistoria [book] (Industrial history of Uppsala), 2003. Hallgren & Fallgrens Förlag. Personal communication, 28 March 2005.
- Ahlgren, M. 1996. Undersökning i Falun av markblyets biotillgänglighet. Miljö- och Hälsoskydd, Falu kommun, MH report 1996:4. In Swedish.
- Alloway, B.J. 1990. Heavy metals in soils. Blackie & Son Ltd. Glasgow. ISBN 0-216-92598-X. 339 pp.
- Alloway, B.J. 2005. Bioavailability of elements in soil. In: Selinus, O., Alloway, B., Centeno, J. A., Finkelman, R.B., Fuge, R., Lindh, U. & Smedley, P. (eds). Essentials of Medical Geology, Elsevier Academic Press, UK, p 347-373. Andersson, M. Geological Survey of Sweden, Uppsala. Unpublished data on Uppsala
- sampling sites used in calculations on background values; Naturvårdsverket, 1997a.
- ATSDR (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry). 2000. Summary report. ATSDR soil-pica workshop, June 2000, Atlanta, USA. 30 pp. [online] (20 March 2001) http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/child/soilpica.html [30 June 2006].
- ATSDR. 2002. Public Health Statements Toxicological Profiles (Al, As, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Mn, Ni, Pb, Zn). [online] (updated 14 March Hg. 2006) http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/phshome.html. [21 August 2003].
- Baars, A.J., Theelen, R.M.C., Janssen, P.J.C.M., Hesse, J.M., van Apeldoorn, M.E., Meijerink, M.C.M., Verdam, L. & Zeilmaker, M.J. 2001. Re-evaluation of humantoxicological maximum permissible risk levels. RIVM Report 711701 025. RIVM, Bilthoven, The Netherlands. 297 pp.
- Baize, D. & Sterckeman, T. 2001. Of the necessity of knowledge of the natural pedogeochemical background content in the evaluation of the contamination of soils by trace elements. The Science of the Total Environment 264, 127-139.
- Barltrop, D. & Meek, F. 1979. Effect of particle size on lead adsorption from the gut. Archives of Environmental Health 34, 280-285.
- Berglund, M., Fahlgren, L., Freland, M. & Vahter, M. 1994. Metaller i mark i Stockholms innerstad och kranskommuner – förekomst och hälsorisker för barn. Karolinska Institute, Institute of Environmental Medicine, IMM-report 2/94. 1-48. ISSN 1101-2803. In Swedish.
- Berglund, M., Sörensen, S. & Vahter, M. 1995. Undersökning av bly- och kadmium exponering hos barn i Sala. Institute of Environmental Medicine, Karolinska Institute. Stockholm, Sweden. In Swedish.
- Berglund, M., Lind, B., Sorensen, S. & Vahter, M. 2000. Impact of soil and dust lead on children's blood lead in contaminated areas of Sweden. Archives of Environmental Health 55.93-97.
- Birke, M. & Rauch, U. 2000. Urban geochemistry: Investigations in the Berlin metropolitan area. Environmental Geochemistry and Health 22, 233-248.
- Bityukova, L., Shogenova, A. & Birke, M. 2000. Urban geochemistry: A study of element distributions in the soils of Tallinn (Estonia). Environmental Geochemistry and Health 22, 173-193.
- Bjerre, B., Berglund. M., Hellman, B. & Harsbo, K. 1998. Blodblyundersökning av förskolebarn – inom område med höga metallhalter i Falu tätort. Miljö- och Hälsoskydd, Falu kommun, MH report 1998:6. In Swedish.
- Bridges, E.M. 1991. Waste material in urban soils. In: Bullock, P., & Gregory P.J. (eds.), Soils in the urban environment. Blackwell Scientific Publications. Cambridge, UK. 28-46
- Brinkmann, R. 1994. Lead pollution in soils adjacent to homes in Tampa, Florida. Environmental Geochemistry and Health 16(2), 59-64

- Bullock, P. & Gregory, P.J. 1991. Soil in the urban environment. Cambridge University Press, UK. 173 pp.
- Calabrese, E.J., Barnes, R., Stanek, E.J., Pastides, H., Gilbert, C.E, Venman, P., Wang, X., Laszity, A. & Kostecki, P.T. 1989. How much soil do young children ingest: An epidemiologic study. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 10*, 123-137.
- Calabrese, E.J. & Stanek, E.J. 1992. Distinguishing out door soil ingestion from indoor dust ingestion in a soil pica child. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology* 15, 83-85.
- Calabrese, E.J., Stanek, E.J. & Barnes, R. 1998. Methodology to estimate the amount and particle size of soil ingested by children: Implications for exposure assessments at waste sites. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 24*, 264-268.
- Campbell, P.G.C., Chapman, P.M. & Hale, B.A. 2006. Risk assessment of metals in the environment. *Issues in Environmental Science and Technology 22*, 101-131.
- Centeno, J.A., Mullick, F.G., Ishak, K.G., Franks, T.J., Burke, A.P., Koss, M.N., Perl, D.P., Tchounwou, P.B. & Pestaner, J.P. 2006. Environmental pathology. In: Selinus, O., Alloway, B., Centeno, J.A., Finkelman, R.B., Fuge, R., Lindh, U. & Smedley, P. (eds) *Essentials of Medical Geology*. Elsevier Academic Press. Amsterdam, the Netherlands. p 563-594.
- Centeno, J.A. 2006. Global impacts of geogenic arsenic a medical geology research case. *International Symposium on Medical Geology*, 18-19 May 2006, Stockholm, Sweden.
- Citeau, L. & Lamy, I. 2003. Nature and reactivity of natural colloids towards trace metals in soils. *Proceedings of the* 7th *International Conference on the Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements (ICOBTE)*, 15-19 June, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Craul, P.J. 1985. A description of urban soils and their desired characteristics. *Journal of Arboriculture 11*, 330-339.
- Darwin, C. 1882. The formation of vegetable mould through the action of worms. London: John Murray. cit. Mullins, C.E. 1991. Physical properties of soils in urban areas. In: Bullock, P. & Gregory, P.J. (eds) 1991. Soil in the urban environment. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Cambridge, UK. pp 173.
- Davies, B.E., Bowman, C., Davies, T.C. & Selinus, O. 2005. Medical geology: Perspectives and prospects. In: Selinus, O., Alloway, B., Centeno, J.A., Finkelman, R.B., Fuge, R., Lindh, U. & Smedley, P. (eds) *Essentials of Medical Geology*. Elsevier Academic Press. Amsterdam, the Netherlands. p 563-594.
- Davis, A., Ruby, M.J & Bergstrom, P.D. 1992. Bioavailability of arsenic and lead in soils from the Butte, Montana, mining district. *Environmental Science and Technology 26*, 461-468.
- De Miguel, E., Llamas, J.F. Chacón, E., Berg, T., Larssen, S., Roysett, O. & Vadsett, M. 1997. Origin and patterns of distribution of trace elements in street dust: Unleaded petrol and urban lead. *Atmospheric Environment* 31, 2733-2740.
- Dugan, M.J. 1980. Lead in urban dust: An assessment. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 14*, 309-321.
- Dugan, M.J. & Inskip, M.J. 1985. Childhood exposure to lead in surface dust and soil: A community problem. *Public Health Review 13*, 1-54.
- Effland, W.R. & Pouyat, R.V. 1997. The genesis, classification and mapping of soils in urban areas. *Urban Ecosystems 1*, 217-228.
- Eick, M.J. & Burgholzer, R.W. 2005. Introduction to cation exchange capacity (CEC) 3D models and shockwave movies [online] (last update 1 June 2005) http://www.soils1.cses.vt.edu/MJE/shockwave/cec_demo/version1.1/cec.shtml, [16 May 2006]
- Ek, J. 1992. Kommunalt geokemiskt kontrollprogram för luft, mark och vatten Del 2; biogeokemisk kartläggning av Uppsala Kommun. *Research report GRAP 2-1992*. Geological Survey of Sweden. In Swedish.
- Ekelund, L., Nilsson, C.-A. & Ressar, H. 1993. Biogeokemiska kartan, tungmetaller i bäckvattenväxter, *Rapporter och meddelanden nr 75*. Geological Survey of Sweden. In Swedish.
- Ekström, G. 1926. Klassifikation av svenska åkerjordar, SGU ser C nr 345. pp 161. In Swedish.

- Elert, M. 2002. Riktvärden i riskbedömningen, fördjupad riskbedömning platsspecifika riktvärden. Oral presentation at Nätverket Renare Mark seminar, 19 mars 2002, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Ellickson, K.M., Meeker, R.J., Gallo, M.A., Buckley, B.T & Lioy, P.J. 2001. Oral bioavailability of lead and arsenic from a NIST standard reference soil material, *Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 40*, 128-135.
- Ellis, C.R. & Schnoes, C.J. 2005. Eating disorder: Pica. eMedicine website [online] (last update: 18 February 2006) www.emedicine.com/ped/topic1798.htm, [24 Oct 2005].
- Engström, C.-J. 2001. Översiktsplan för Uppsala stad. Samrådshandling, del 1. Uppsala. Uppsala City Council. In Swedish.
- Environmental Objectives Portal. 2006a. [online] (7 June 2006) Available from: http://www.miljomal.nu/english/english.php, [16 June 2006].
- Environmental Objectives Portal. 2006b. A Non-Toxic Environment [online] (25 January 200&9 Available from: http://www.miljomal.nu/english/obj4.php, [16 June 2006].
- Environmental Objectives Portal. 2006c 4. Giftfri miljö [online] (7 June 2006) Available from: http://www.miljomal.nu/om_miljomalen/miljomalen/mal4.php. [16 June 2006].
- Eriksson, J., Andersson, A. & Andersson, R. 1997. Tillståndet i svensk åkermark. Naturvårdsverket Report 4778. In Swedish.
- EURACHEM/CITAC Guide. 1999. *Quantifying uncertainty in analytical measurement*. Draft: EURACHEM Workshop, Helsinki 1999.
- Filippelli, G.M., Laidlaw, M., Latimer, J. & Raftis, R. 2005. Urban lead poisoning and medical geology: An unfinished story. GSA Today 15, 4-11.
- Franco, P.B. 2005. Distribution of biogenic and non-biogenic trace metals in roadside soils. MSc thesis 139, Swedish University of Agricultural Soils, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Glover, L.J., Eick, M.J. & Brady, P.V. 2002. Desorption kinetics of cadmium and lead from goethite: Influence of time and organic acids. *Soil Science Society of America Journal 66*, 797-804.
- Gretener, B. 1994. The river Fyris, a study of fluvial transportation. Uppsala University, Institute of Earth Sciences, UNGI report 87 ISSN 0375-8109. 241 pp.
- Grøn, C. & Andersen, L. 2003. Human bioaccessibility of heavy metals and PAH in soil. Danish Environmental Protection Agency Environmental Project no. 840. 113 pp.
- GUM. 1995. Guide to the expression of uncertainty in measurement, ISO, Geneva, 1993 ISBN 92-67-10188-9.
- Gunshin, H., Mackenzie, B., Berger, U.V., Gunshin, Y., Romero, M.F., Boron, W.F., Nussberger, S., Gollan, J.L. & Hediger, M.A. 1997. Cloning and characterization of a mammalian proton-coupled metal-ion transporter. *Nature* 388, 482–488.
- Harris, J.A. 1991. The biology of soils in urban areas. In: Bullock, P. & Gregory P.J., (eds.) Soils in the urban environment. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Cambridge, UK. 139-154.
- Imperato, M., Adamo, P., Naimo, D., Arienzo, M., Stanzione, D. & Violante, P. 2003. Spatial distribution of heavy metals in urban soils of Naples city (Italy). *Environmental Pollution 124*, 247-256.
- International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO). 2001a. Determination of particle size distribution by gravitational liquid sedimentation methods – Part 2: Fixed pipette method. ISO 13 317-2:2001.
- International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO). 2001b. Calibration and testing laboratories. ISO 17025:2001.
- International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO). 2002a. Soil quality Determination of pH. ISO 10 390:2002.
- International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO). 2002b. Soil quality Extraction of trace elements soluble in agua regía. ISO 11 466:2002.
- Johansson, L. 2003. Distribution of metals in soil particle size fractions. A case study of selected playground soils of Uppsala City. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of soil Science. MSc thesis 13, 42 pp.
- Kemikalieinspektionens föreskrifter (KIFS). 1998. Kemikalieinspektionens föreskrifter om kemiska produkter och bioteknologiska organismer. KIFS 1998:8. 186 pp. In Swedish.

- Kissel, J.C., Shirai, J.H., Richter, K.Y. & Fenske, R.A., 1998. Investigation of dermal contact with soil in controlled trials. *Journal of Soil Contamination* 7, 735-752.
- Klaassen, C.D. 1996. Casarett & Doull's Toxicology: The Basic Science of Poisons, 5th ed., McGraw Hill Companies Inc. US. 1111 pp. ISBN 0-07-113927-3.
- Klang, E. & Eriksson, J. 1997. Tungmetaller i åkermark i Uppsala län 1996, *Länsstyrelsens meddelandeserie 1997:17*, Miljö- och fiskeenheten, Uppsala County Administration (Länsstyrelsen). In Swedish.
- Klassen, R.A. 1998. Geological factors affecting the distribution of trace metals in glacial sediments of central Newfoundland. *Environmental Geology* 33, 154-169.
- Laidlaw, M.A.S., Mielke, H.W., Filipelli, G.M., Johnson, D.L. & Gonzales, C.R. 2005. Seasonability and children's blood lead levels: developing a predictive model using climate variables and blood lead data from Indianapolis, Indiana, Syracuse, New York and New Orleans, Louisiana (USA). *Environmental Health Perspectives 113*, 793-800.
- Lanphear B.P. & Roughmann K.J. 1997. Pathways of lead exposure in urban children. *Environmental Research* 74, 67-73.
- Lanphear, B.P. Burgoon, D.A. Rust, S.T. Ekerly, S. & Galke, W. 1998. Environmental exposures to lead and urban children's blood lead level. *Environmental Research* 76, 120-130.
- Laquatra, I. 2001. Childhood Lead Poisoning and its Prevention, Heinz Infant Nutrition Institute. Homepage. [online] (2001) http://www.hini.org/HINI/lead3.htm [21 August 2003].
- Lax, K. 2002. Bakgrundshalter av metaller i mark. In: Wiklander, G. (ed). Forskningsnytt om mark. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Forest Soils, *Report in Forest Ecology and Forest Soils* 84, 9-15. In Swedish.
- Lax, K. Geological Survey of Sweden. Unpublished study on metals in sandboxes in Göteborg, Geological Survey of Sweden, Uppsala.
- Leazer, T.M., Liu, Y., Klaassen, C.D. 2002. Cadmium absorption and its relationship to divalent metal transporter-1 in the pregnant rat. *Toxicology & Applied Pharmacology*, 185, 18-24.
- Li, X., Poon, C. & Liu, P.S. 2001. Heavy metal contamination of urban soil and street dusts in Hong Kong. *Applied Geochemistry 16*, 1361-1368.
- Linde M., Bengtsson H. & Öborn I. 2001. Concentrations and pools of heavy metals in urban soils in Stockholm, Sweden. *Water Air & Soil Pollution, Focus 1*, 83-101.
- Lönnberg, A. 2001. Kartläggning av nedlagd miljöfarlig verksamhet i centrala Uppsala. *Diarienummer: 2000-2228.* Environmental Protection Office, Uppsala City Council, Uppsala. In Swedish.
- Loredo, J., Ordóňez, A., Charlesworth, S. & De Miguel, E. 2003. Influence of industry in the geochemical urban environment of Mieres (Spain) and associated health risk. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health 25*, 307-323.
- Madrid, L., Diaz-Barrientos, E. & Madrid, F. 2002. Distribution of heavy metal contents of urban soils in parks of Seville. *Chemosphere* 49, 1301-1308.
- Mäkinen, B., Recreation and Nature Office of Uppsala City Council, Personal Communication 12March 2004.
- McBride, M.B. 1994. *Environmental chemistry of soils*. Oxford University Press. Oxford, US. 406 pp.
- McKone T.E. & Daniels J.I. 1991. Estimating human exposure through multiple pathways from air, water and soil. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 13*, 36-61.
- Mielke, H.W. & Reagan, P.L. 1998, Soil is an important pathway of human lead exposure. *Environmental Health Perspectives 106*, 217-229.
- Mielke, H.W., Gonzales, C.R., Smith, M.K. & Mielke, P.W. 1999. The urban environment and children's health: Soils as an integrator of lead, zinc, and cadmium in New Orleans, Louisiana, U.S.A. *Environmental Research* 81, 117-129.
- Mielke, H.W., Wang, G., Gonzales, C.R., Powell, E.T., Le. B. & Quach, N. 2004. PAHs and metals in soils of inner-city and suburban New Orleans, Louisiana, USA. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology 18*, 243-247.

- Mielke H.W., Berry K.J., Mielke P.W., Powell E.T. & Gonzales C.R. 2005. Multiple metal accumulation as a factor in learning achievement within various New Orleans elementary school communities. *Environmental Research* 97, 67-75.
- MinitabTM Statistical Software, release 13.31, version 5.0.2195 Service Pack 4 Build 2195, Microsoft Windows XP Professional.
- Minitab[®] Statistical Software, release 14.1, version 5.1.2600 Service Pack 2 Build 2600, Microsoft Windows 2000 Professional
- Möller, A., Muller, H. W., Abdullah, A., Abdelgawad, G., Utermann, J. 2005. Urban soil pollution in Damascus, Syria: Concentrations and patterns of heavy metals in the soils of the Damascus Ghouta. *Geoderma 124*, 63-71.
- Möller, H. 1993. Description to the quaternary map, Uppsala NW. SGU serie Ae 113. Geological Survey of Sweden, Uppsala.
- Moya, J., Bearer C.F., Etzel R.A. 2004. Children's behavior and physiology and how it affects exposure to environmental contaminants. *Pediatrics* 113, 996-1006.
- Mullins, C.E. 1991. Physical properties of soils in urban areas. In: Bullock, P. & Gregory P.J., (eds.) Soils in the urban environment. Blackwell Scientific Publications. Cambridge, UK.
- Nahlin, H. & Strid, L. 2003. Marksanering i Stockholmsområdet, vad händer med förorenad mark i Stockholmsområdet och varför? MSc thesis. Department of Chemical Engineering and Technology, KTH. Stockholm. ISSN 1402-7615. In Swedish.
- Nathanail, C.P. & Earl, N. 2001. Human health risk assessment: guideline values and magic number. *Issues in Environmental Science and Technology* 16. 85-102.
- Naturvårdsverket. 1997a. Bakgrundshalter i mark- Halter av vissa metaller och organiska ämnen I jord I tätort och på landsbygd. *Rapport 4640* Stockholm. In Swedish.
- Naturvårdsverket, 1997b. Development of generic guideline values. *Report 4639*. Stockholm.
- Naturvårdsverket, 2005. Vägledning för riskbedömning av förorenade områden. *Remissversion 2005-07-04*. In Swedish.
- Naturvårdsverket. 2006a, Lägesredovisning för efterbehandlingsarbetet i landet. *Skrivelse* 2006-02-23. Dnr 642-5017-05 Rf & Dnr 642-0470-06 Rf. In Swedish.
- Naturvårdsverket. 2006b. Förbättrade miljöriskbedömningar. *Report 5538*. Stockholm. ISSN 0282-7298. In Swedish.
- Nayeri M. 2002. Trafikbullerkartläggning i Uppsala stad Bilagadelen. Technical report 2001-272, appendix. In Swedish.
- Norges Geologiske Undersøkelse (NGU). 1999. Jordforurensning i Bergen. NGU rapport 99.022, 16 pp. In Norwegian.
- Nordberg, M. & Cherian, M.G. 2005. Biological responses of elements. In: Selinus, O., Alloway, B., Centeno, J.A., Finkelman, R.B., Fuge, R., Lindh, U. & Smedley, P. 2005 (eds). *Essentials of Medical Geology*. Elsevier Academic Press. Amsterdam, the Netherlands. 179-200.
- Oomen, A.G., Hack, A., Minekus, M., Zeijdner, E., Cornelis, C., Schoeters, G., Verstraete, W., van de Wiele, T., Wragg, J., Rompelberg, C.J.M., Sips, A.J.A.M. & van Wijnen, J.H. 2002. Comparison of five *in vitro* digestion models to study the bioaccessibility of soil contaminants. *Environmental Science and Technology 36*, 3326-3334.
- Oomen, A.G., Rompelberg, C.J.M., Bruil, M.A., Dobbe, C.J.G., Pereboom, D.P.K.H. & Sips, A.J.A.M. 2003. Development of an *in vitro* digestion model for estimation of bioaccessibility of soil contaminants. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 44, 281-287.

Örnestav, R., Berthåga Crematorium, Uppsala, Personal Communication, 26 March 2003.

- Osman, K. 1998. *Health effects of environmental lead exposure in children*. Doctoral thesis, Karolinska Institute, Institute of Environmental Medicine, Stockholm.
- Österlund, Y. Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Personal Communication 30 May 2006.
- Ottesen, R.T., Volden, T., Haugland, T. & Alexander, J. 2000. Jordforurensning i Bergen Oppfølgende undersøkelser av jordforurensning i barns lekemiljø i Sentrum-, Lakesvåg-, Løvstakken-, Sandviken og Landås bydeler. Helseriskovurderinger. *NGU Rapport* 2000.089. [online]

http://www.ngu.no/prosjekter/Jordforurensning/Rapporter/2000089.pdf [26 August 2003]. In Norwegian.

- Paterson, E., Sanka, M. & Clark, L. 1996. Urban soils as pollutant sinks a case study from Aberdeen, Scotland. *Applied Geochemistry* 11, 129-131.
- Peltola, P. & Åström, M. 2003. Urban geochemistry: A multimedia and multielement survey of a small town in northern Europe. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health 25*, 397-419.
- Reimann, C. & Filzmoser, P. 1999. Normal and lognormal data distribution in geochemistry: Death of a myth. Consequences for the statistical treatment of geochemical and environmental data. *Environmental Geology* 39, 1001-1014.
- Rodriguez, R.R., Basta, N.T., Casteel, S.W. & Pace, L.W. 1999. An *in vitro* gastrointestinal method to estimate bioavailable arsenic in contaminated soils and solid media. *Environmental Science and Technology* 33, 642-649.
- Ruby, M.V., Davis, A., Link, T.E., Schoof, R., Chaney, R.L., Freeman, G.B. & Bergstrom, P. 1993. Development of an *in vitro* screening test to evaluate the in vivo bioaccessibility of ingested mine-waste lead. *Environmental Science and Technology* 27, 2870-2877.
- Ruby, M.V., Davis, A., Schoof, R., Eberle, S. & Sellstone, C.M. 1996. Estimation of lead and arsenic bioavailability using a physiologically based extraction test. *Environmental Science and Technology 39*, 422-430.
- Ruby, M.V., Schoof, R., Brattin, W., Goldade, M., Post, G., Harnois, M., Mosby, D.E., Casteel, S.W., Berti, W., Carpenter, M., Edwards, D., Cragin, D. & Chappell, W. 1999. Advances in evaluating the oral bioavailability of inorganics in soil for use in human health risk assessment. *Environmental Science and Technology* 33, 3697-3705.
- Rundquist, P. & Johansson, P. 2000. Göteborgsprojektet geokemi över tungmetaller och organiska miljögifter, *Geochemical report*, Geological Survey of Sweden. In Swedish.
- Salminen, R. & Tarvainen, T. 1997. The problem of defining geochemical baselines. A case study of selected elements and geological materials in Finland. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration 60*, 91-98
- Sandberg, P.-E. 1995. Markens metallinnehåll i Falu tätort med omgivning. Miljö- och Hälsoskydd, Falu kommun, MH report 1995:9. In Swedish.
- Schilling, R. & Bain, R.P. 1989. Prediction of children's blood lead levels on the basis of household-specific soil lead levels. *American Journal of Epidemiology 128*, 197-205.
- Schütz, A., Barregård, L., Sällsten, G., Wilske, J., Manay, N., Pereira, L. & Cousillas, Z.A. 1997. Blood lead in Uruguayan children and possible sources of exposure. *Environmental Research* 74, 17-23.
- Schroeder, J.L., Basta, N.T., Si, J., Casteel, S.W., Evans, T. & Payton, M. 2003. *In vitro* gastrointestinal method to estimate relative bioavailable cadmium in contaminated soil. *Environmental Science and Technology* 37, 1365-1370.
- Schroeder, J.L., Basta, N.T., Casteel, S.W., Evans, T., Payton, T.J. & Si, J. 2004. Validation of the *in vitro* intestinal (IVG) method to estimate relative bioavailable lead in contaminated soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 33, 513-521.
- Selinus, O., Alloway, B., Centeno, J.A., Finkelman, R.B., Fuge, R., Lindh, U. & Smedley, P. 2005. *Essentials of Medical Geology, impacts of the natural environment on public health.* Academic Press. Amsterdam, the Netherlands. 812 pp. ISBN 0-12-636341-2.
- Senesi, G.S., Baldassarre, G., Senesi, N. & Radina, B. 1999. Trace element inputs to soils by anthropogenic activities and implications for human health. *Chemosphere* 39, 343-377.
- Sheppard S.C. & Evenden, W.G. 1994. Contaminant enrichment and properties of soil adhering to skin. *Journal of Environmental Quality 23*, 604-613.
- Sheppard, S.C. 1995. A model to predict concentration enrichment of contaminants on soil adhering to plants and skin. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health 17*, 13-20.
- Sheppard, S.C. 1998. Geophagy: Who eats soil and where do possible contaminants go? *Environmental Geology 33*, 109-114.
- Sheppard, P.R., Ridenour, G., Speakman, R.J. & Witten, M.L. 2006. Elevated tungsten and cobalt in airborne particulates in Fallon, Nevada: Possible implications for the childhood leukemia cluster. *Applied Geochemistry* 21, 152-165.

- Sips, A.J.A.M., Bruil, M.A., Dobbe, C.J.G., van de Kamp, E., Oomen, A.G., Pereboom, D.P.K.H., Rompelberg, C.J.M. & Zeilmaker, M.J. 2001. Bioaccessibility of contaminants from ingested soil in humans. *RIVM report* 711701012/2001. RIVM, Bilthoven, The Netherlands. 61 pp.
- Sörme, L., Bergbäck, B. & Lohm, U. 2001. Goods in the anthroposphere as a metal emission source. A case study of Stockholm, Sweden. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution: Focus 1*, 213-227.
- Sparks, D.L. 1999. Kinetics and mechanisms of soil chemical reactions. In: M.E. Sumner (ed) *Handbook of soil science*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Sparks, D.L. 2003. *Environmental Soil Chemistry*. 2nd edition. Elsevier Science, USA. p. B-123-167.
- Sposito, G. 1989. *The chemistry of soils*. Oxford University Press, USA. 277 pp. ISBN 0-19-504615-3. 277 pp.
- Stanek III, E.J., Calabrese, E.J., Mundt, K., Pekow, P. & Yeatts, K.B. 1998. Prevalence of soil mouthing/ingestion among children aged 1 to 6. *Journal of Soil Contamination* 7, 227-242.
- Stock, J. 1996. *Metaller förekomst, källor och spridningsvägar i Uppsala kommun,* Environmental Protection Office, Uppsala City Council. In Swedish.
- Stockholm City Development Administration. 2006 Website [online] (http://www.stockholm.se/Extern/Templates/Page.aspx?id=88149). [12 May 2006]
- Tallkvist, J., Bowlus, C.L. & Lonnerdal, B. 2001. DMT1 gene expression and cadmium absorption in human absorptive enterocytes. *Toxicology Letters* 122, 171-177.
- Thornton, I. 1991. Metal contamination in urban areas. In: Bullock, P. (Ed), *Soils in the Urban Environment*; Cambridge University Press, UK. 47-75.
- Tijhuis, L., Brattli, B. & Sæther, O.M. 2002. A geochemical survey of topsoil in the city of Oslo, Norway. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health 24*, 67-94.
- Uppsala City Council. 2004. Statistics for Uppsala Municipality. Booklet 10 pp.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2002. *Child-Specific Exposure Factors Handbook*, EPA/600/P-00/002B; National Center for Environmental Assessment; Washington, DC. 40 pp.
- Versantvoort, C.H.M., Rompelberg, C.J.M. & Sips, A.J.A.M. 2000. *Methodologies to Study Human Intestinal Absorption. A Review*, RIVM report 630030 001, RIVM, Bilthoven, The Netherlands. 55 pp.
- Victorin, K., Dock, L., Vahter, M. & Ahlborg U. G. 1990. Hälsoriskbedömnning av vissa ämnen på industrikontaminerad mark. Karolinska Institute, Institute of Environmental Medicine, IMM-rapport 4/90. In Swedish.
- Welp, G. & Brümmer, G.W. 2003. Trace elements of natural origin in soils: An overview. Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on the Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements (ICOBTE), 15-19 June 2003, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Williams, T.M., Rawlins, B.G., Smith, B. & Breward, N. 1998. In-vitro determination of arsenic bioavailability in contaminated soil and mineral beneficiation waste from Ron Phibun, southern Thailand: A basis for improved human risk assessment. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health 20*, 169-177.
- Yang, J.K., Barnett, M.O., Jardine, P.M. & Brooks, S.C. 2003. Factors controlling the bioaccessibility of arsenic(V) and lead(II) in soil. *Soil and Sediment Contamination* 12, 165-179.
- Zhai, M., Kampunzu, H. A. B., Modisi, M. P. & Totolo, O. 2003. Distribution of heavy metals in Gaborone urban soils (Botswana) and its relationship to soil pollution and bedrock composition. *Environmental Geology* 45, 141-180.

Acknowledgements/Tack

So now it's done. Four years seemed like forever when I started, but now I have reached the end of this journey and it feels like it was yesterday that my supervisor Erasmus Otabbong called me and asked if I was interested to do a PhD on urban soil. Of course I was! Great, see you at the airport on the 2nd of May, we're going to Portugal to meet the URBSOIL team, he replied. So there my journey started.

It has been an adventurous journey. I have had the privilege to travel to several countries and I have met so many amazing and inspiring people, both abroad and in Sweden. I have had a great time and I want to acknowledge everyone who has helped, supported and inspired me.

➢ Först och främst vill jag tacka Sara. ☆ Ditt ovärderliga stöd under dessa fyra år, din värme och vänskap och att du alltid ställer upp hade jag inte klarat mig utan. Du är en guldklimp! Tusen tack för allt!

➢ Ett jättetack vill jag också ge till Olle Selinus, min biträdande handledare på SGU. Otroligt jättetack för all input, all info, all hjälp, alla nya kontakter och ditt stora intresse för mitt arbete och din tro på mig. Ett jättetack vill jag också ge till min huvudhandledare Erasmus Otabbong, weebale nyoo för att du gav mig möjligheten att göra det här, för att du stöttat och trott på mina idéer, för alla skratt, alla resor som du tagit mig med på och för att du gett mig möjligheten att knyta vänskapsband med alla medverkande inom EU-projektet URBSOIL, som även till största delen finansierade mitt arbete. Marika Berglund, biträdande handledare från Karolinska Institutet har ställt upp med råd, ris och ros och har hjälpt mig med framför allt artikel III och IV. Tack! Även Ernst Witter ska ha ett jättetack för att du tog på dig att i sista minuten ställa upp för att jag skulle kunna ro allt i hamn! Tack för din hjälp med kappan, för att du såg till att den inte blev en tegelsten och för att du är så petig!

 \gg I would like to acknowledge all the hard working people in the URBSOIL project. It has been great to know you all and I especially want to thank you for your hospitality! I hope we can keep in touch in the future! A grateful dank je vel voor de leuke tijd samen to everyone I worked with at RIVM, especially Agnes Oomen, Menno Duits, Esther Brandon, Marko Blokland and Petra Krystek. Thank you also Erwin, Femke, Kris, Klaas, Diertje and everyone else at ARO for making me feel so welcome in the lab and for all the cake⁽²⁾. And sorry for the verschrikkelijke stank! Thank you so much Agnes for inviting me to work with you, all the feedback I've received on my work from all of you and especially the interest you have shown in my work. I also want to acknowledge RIVM for kindly financing the analysis carried out in Paper IV and the time that was allocated from co-workers during my stay. Een extra dank je vel aan Menno voor all the help, the Nederlands lessons and all the good laughs in the lab. A big thank you also to Mary McAfee for language corrections, and for always having time to assist me in the last minute. You are incredibly fast!

➢ Ett stort tack till Birgitta Olsson på Miljölaboratoriet på SLU i Umeå för metallanalyserna och för att du är så snäll och svarar så snabbt på alla mina frågor! Tack till Kristina Öhman på markvetenskapen för texturanalysen.

> Till alla doktorander på markvetenskapen (har man ingen nämnt har man ingen glömt..., men speciellt Lovisa), tack för allt trevligt fikande och givande diskussioner. Och lycka till! Tack till Linda Johansson som gjorde sitt exjobb här och gjorde labbarbetet så mycket roligare! Och fikarasterna så mycket godare... Tack även till Anke på andra sidan jorden, bara för att du är så du! Till min rumskompis Sigrun för att jag fått ockupera mer än halva ditt rum med mina tonvis med papper... och för trevligt sällskap såklart, till YPARD-sister Kristina för att jag fick följa med och bli inspirerad! Till Laima som visat sånt stort intresse för "mina" lekplatser och för att du tog dig tid att luska ut vad "Tripoliparken" egentligen heter! Jag vill även passa på att tacka alla andra på växtnäringen för dessa fyra år, speciellt damerna som är bra på att fika! Ett speciellt stort tack till Ragnar Persson, alltid lika villig att hjälpa när burken strular och alltid lika glatt visslande i korridoren. Ett stort tack vill jag också ge studievägledare Kerstin Berglund för att du alltid är ett sånt stöd! Och icke att förglömma Hans Arrendal som varit ett enormt stöd i uppförsbackarna. Tack också till granskningsnämnden som hjälpte mig med slutversionen av manus (nöjd nu Olle? 😳).

➢ Jag vill även passa på att tacka mina underbara vänner utanför jobbet, för att ni är så bra! Det är skönt att de flesta av er egentligen inte har en aning om vad jag sysslat med under dessa år, det gör att jag inte behöver prata så mycket jobb på fritiden. Och till er som trots allt måste lyssna, så tackar jag för det örat! Nu ska jag amputera, AC! Eller var det dissikera...

➢ Och sist men inte minst, min kära familj. Tack till Tobias, min bästa vän, mitt hjärtas riddare, mitt lugn i stormen. Tack för att du finns och för att du alltid har nåt på gång och är så bra på att vara ledig! Du betyder så elefantligt mycket för mig, du gör mig hel. Tack till mamma och pappa, som trots avståndet alltid funnits nära till hands och stort tack till de underbaraste av bröder, Ola och Mattias, Katarina och alla ni underbara brorsbarn; Albert, Astrid, Elias, Ludvig, Manda och Tilda (bokstavsordning, jätterättvist)! Tack för att ni finns ungar, och förgyller mitt liv med er livsenergi!

